Document from the collections of the AAMC Not to be reproduced without permission

Table of Contents

Annual Meeting	
Plenary Sessions	
Special General Sessions	. 20
Council of Academic Societies	. 20
Council of Deans	. 20
Council of Teaching Hospitals	. 20
Organization of Student Representatives	. 20
Women in Medicine	
AAMC Data Bases	
Aging of Medical School Faculty: Implications for Insti-	-
tutional Renewal and Productivity	
Group on Business Affairs	
Group on Institutional Planning	
Group on Public Affairs	
Group on Student Affairs	
GSA-Minority Affairs Section	
Group on Medical Education	
Assembly Minutes	
•	
Annual Report	. 22
Executive Council, Administrative Boards	
The Councils	
National Policy	
Working with Other Organizations	
Education	
Biomedical and Behavioral Research	
Faculty	. 26
Students	
Institutional Development	. 26
Teaching Hospitals	
Communications	. 27
Information Systems	. 27
AAMC Membership	
Treasurer's Report	
AAMC Committees	
AAMC Staff	

The Ninety-Seventh Annual Meeting

New Orleans Hilton Riverside and Towers, New Orleans, Louisiana, October 25-30, 1986

Theme: Leadership in Academic Medical Centers

Program Outlines

PLENARY SESSIONS

October 27

Presiding: Virginia V. Weldon, M.D.

Presentation Honoring Centennial of the National Institutes of Health

James B. Wyngaarden, M.D.

In the Eye of a Hurricane

Honorable Thomas F. Eagleton

Senator Eagleton presented the Alan Gregg

Memorial Lecture

Leadership in Medical Education: The Challenge of Diversity

Clifton R. Wharton, Jr., Ph.D.

Leadership in Meeting Ethical Challenges Albert Jonsen, Ph.D.

Educational Impacts of New Care Systems

J. Robert Buchanan, M.D.

October 28

Presiding: Edward J. Stemmler, M.D.

Presentation of Abraham Flexner Award to David E. Rogers, M.D.

Presentation of AAMC Research Award by Joseph E. Johnson III, M.D.,

to Paul C. Lauterbur, Ph.D.

Presentation of Special Recognition Award to Edithe J. Levit, M.D., for contributions to evaluation methodologies in medical education, service to academic medicine and the medical profession, and distinguished leadership of the National Board of Medical Examiners

Why the Dinosaurs Died: Extinction or Evo-

Virginia V. Weldon, M.D.

Making Medicine a More Attractive Profession

Paul B. Beeson, M.D.

Dr. Beeson presented the John A.D. Cooper Lecture

A Report on the Establishment Robert G. Petersdorf, M.D.

SPECIAL GENERAL SESSIONS

October 26

GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION AND THE TRANSITION FROM MEDICAL SCHOOL TO RESI-DENCY

Moderator: Edward J. Stemmler, M.D.

Institutional Responsibility

Commentator: Spencer Foreman, M.D.

Reactors: C. Rollins Hanlon, M.D.

Frank A. Riddick, Jr., M.D.

Problems at the Transition

Commentator: Joseph S. Gonnella, M.D.

Reactors: Robert B. King, M.D.

Ture W. Schoultz, Ph.D.

October 28

USING NEW TECHNOLOGIES IN MEDICAL EDU-CATION

Moderator: Ernst Knobil, Ph.D.

Keynote Speaker: Anthony G. Oettinger Respondents: Richard B. Friedman, M.D. William S. Yamamoto, M.D. COUNCIL OF ACADEMIC SOCIETIES

October 27

Business Meeting

Presiding: David H. Cohen, Ph.D.

COUNCIL OF DEANS

October 27

Business Meeting

Presiding: D. Kay Clawson, M.D.

COUNCIL OF TEACHING HOSPITALS

20th ANNIVERSARY-1966-1986

October 27

Business Meeting

Presiding: C. Thomas Smith

General Session

Presiding: Spencer Foreman, M.D.

The Margin of Success: New Management

Roles in a Competitive Environment

Jack Jackson

ORGANIZATION OF STUDENT

REPRESENTATIVES

October 24

Regional Meetings

Business Meeting

New Member Orientation: Getting the Most

Out of OSR

Janet Bickel

GENERAL SESSION

The Light at the End of the Medical School

Tunnel: Watch Out for Trains

Moderator: Vietta Johnson

Carola Eisenberg, M.D.

Leon Eisenberg, M.D.

October 25

PLENARY SESSION

Physicians' Responsibilities for Keeping the

Doors Open in Health Care

Moderator: Richard Peters, M.D.

Panel: H. Jack Geiger, M.D.

Robert M. Heyssel, M.D.

Vivian Pinn-Wiggins, M.D.

James B. Spear, Jr., Ph.D.

FILM: Learning Medicine: The New Mexico

Experiment

Moderator: Arthur Kaufman, M.D.

Four "social responsibility" tracks

ETHICS IN ACTION

The Heart and Soul of Medicine: Everyday

Ethics

Betsy Garrett, M.D. Norma Wagoner, Ph.D.

Giving Human Values Courses a Clinical Fo-

cus

Janet Bickel

Joy D. Skeel

David Thomasma, Ph.D.

STAYING HEALTHY

Incorporating Preventive Medicine Into Your

Practice

Daniel S. Blumenthal, M.D.

Mark Blumenthal

James Carter, M.D.

Kevin Patrick, M.D.

Alternatives to High Tech Health Care

Andrew Weil, M.D.

PRACTICE TRENDS

Community Oriented Primary Care

H. Jack Geiger, M.D.

Arthur Kaufman, M.D.

Emerging Health Care Delivery Systems

Robert M. Heyssel, M.D.

Nancy Seline

KEEPING THE DOORS OPEN TO MEDICAL SCHOOL

Simulated Minority Admission Exercise

Dario Prieto

Elsie Quinones

GENERAL SESSION

REVOLUTION IN MEDICINE HEALTH AND HEAL-

ING IN THE YEAR 2000

Andrew Weil, M.D.

October 26

Students Leading the Way in International Health and Community Service

Moderator: Joann Elmore

Panel: Judith Crowell David Kreger **Peggy Spencer** Cynthia Carlson John DeJong, M.D.

Karem Ali

Problem-Based Learning

Moderators: Vicki Darrow

Kim Dunn

Panel: Myra Bergman Ramos

William Shragge, M.D. Arthur Kaufman, M.D.

Business Meeting Regional Meetings

WOMEN IN MEDICINE

October 26

Plenary Session

Moderator: Joan M. Altekruse, M.D.

Managing the Woman's Way

Marilyn Loden

October 27

Breakfast Program

Topics for Discussion:

Taking better care of ourselves: Issues in women's health

The fine line: When to speak out against sexual harassment and when to let it go

Black women in medicine: Double trouble?

Women's organizations: What are appropriate roles for organizations of women faculty and students?

What policies should academic medical centers develop concerning maternity and parent-

Equity issues: Salary, rank and "good" committee assignments

Liaison Officers' Caucus

October 28

Women in Medicine Luncheon

Institutional Response to Sexual Harassment Linda Weiner

Academic Women Chairmen

DEMONSTRATIONS OF AAMC DATA BASES

October 26 and 27

STUDENT AND APPLICANT INFORMATION MAN-AGEMENT SYSTEM

The AAMC's extensive data on medical school applicants and students form a comprehensive data base called the Student and Applicant Information Management System (SAIMS). The purpose of the system is to facilitate studies of trends in applicant and student characteristics and to assist member institutions with their own institutional studies.

INSTITUTIONAL PROFILE SYSTEM

The AAMC Institutional Profile System is a computer-based data storage, retrieval, and analysis system containing many variables on each U.S. medical school. It is used to provide annual ranking reports placing each school in a national context on a variety of measures of interest and to serve the needs of the institutions, the Liaison Committee on Medical Education, and the AAMC for comparative institutional data.

Annual Meeting participants were invited to stop by and learn about these new facilities. Services available to medical schools were described, and questions regarding utilization of the data were answered.

AGING OF MEDICAL SCHOOL FAC-ULTY: IMPLICATIONS FOR INSTITU-TIONAL RENEWAL AND PRODUCTIV-**ITY**

October 27

Moderator: Eleanor Shore, M.D.

Faculty Age Distributions and Research Productivity

Paul Jolly, Ph.D.

Faculty Renewal in the University of California System

Paul Friedman, M.D.

Increasing Flexibility in Academic Staffing: Lessons from Higher Education

Kenneth Mortimer, Ph.D.

GROUP ON BUSINESS AFFAIRS

October 27

Regional Meetings

GBA NATIONAL PROGRAM

Physician Payment: Future Directions Under

Medicare

Henry R. Desmarais, M.D.

The Future of Biomedical Research

Mary McGrane

October 28

Augustus J. Carroll Memorial Lecture and Luncheon

Mitchell T. Rabkin, M.D.

National Business Meeting

NATIONAL PROGRAM

Leadership in Academic Health Science Cen-

ters

Donna H. Ryan, M.D.

Low Road to Morality: Notes on Leadership

Values

E. Grady Bogue, Ph.D.

GROUP ON INSTITUTIONAL PLANNING

October 26

Discussion Group I—Mergers
Conveners: Ruth A. Kalish, Ph.D.

Ellen R. Krasik

Discussion Group II—Marketing

Convener: John Eudes

Discussion Group III—Information Manage-

ment

Convener: Donald Fenna, Ph.D.

GIP NATIONAL PROGRAM

Interdisciplinary Approaches: Opportunities

for Creative Problem Solving

In Medical Education V.R. Neufeld, M.D.

In Biomedical Research Louis Glaser, Ph.D.

In Clinical Services Joseph Kiely, M.D.

In Administration William T. Butler, M.D.

GROUP ON PUBLIC AFFAIRS

October 27

GPA AWARDS PRESENTATION

Moderator: Carolyn Tinker

Publications-External Audiences

Single or Special Issue

Gregory Graze

Susan Sample

Periodicals

John Deats

Michela Reichman

Publications-Internal Audiences

Tom Geddie Anne Insinger

Electronics Program-Audio

Eldean Borg Karen Stamm

Electronics Program-Visual

Janet Norton

Special Public Relations/Development/

Alumni Project Gayle McNutt

Premier Performance during 1985 by a Med-

ical School or Teaching Hospital

Alumni

Elizabeth P. Waters

Development

Brenda Babitz

Public Relations Barbara Barrow

Gayle McNutt

ALUMNI PROGRAM

Moderator: Jean D. Thompson

Moderator: John Milkereit

Patricia McCarthy

Roland Wussow

Alumni Boards—Strengths, Weaknesses, October 29 Controls COMBINED ALUMNI AND DEVELOPMENT PRO-Marcie Seligman Roberts Leslie F. Wilson Alumni, Development and Public Relations: Annual Funds, Grateful Patient Programs, Together in Theory and Practice Specialty Conferences and Other Alumni Activities Moderator: Clyde Watkins Joe Sigler Moderator: Jean D. Thompson Bill D. Glance Colleen Mehan Kellie Semler PR SESSION Jack Siefkas Update on Animal Legislation New Alumni Programming Initiatives Frankie Trull Moderator: Leslie Wilson Corporate Crisis Management Elizabeth P. Waters James L. Ewing III Jerry Passer GPA TABLE TOPICS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM Parents Groups Current Issues in Tax Legislation Discussion Leaders: Barbara T. Blough Patricia E. Caver Moderator: Richard Griffin Sondra M. Ives David M. Donaldson **Faculty Participation** Changing Institutions, New Constituencies Discussion Leaders: Patricia M. Ashmore Clyde P. Watkins Krista Mattox **GPA BUSINESS MEETING** Joining a Medical Center Presiding: Robert Fenley Discussion Leaders: Rebecca Chapman October 28 Leslie F. Wilson Alumni Publications GPA AWARDS LUNCHEON Discussion Leaders: Ellen Soo Hoo Welcome: Carolyn Tinker Jean D. Thompson Speaker Introduction: Robert Fenley Involving Younger Alumni Awards Presented by John W. Colloton Discussion Leaders: Patricia L. Head Elizabeth C. Morris Speaker: Edmund J. Tunstall Creating Major Gift Opportunities GPA GENERAL SESSION Discussion Leaders: G. Robert Alsobrook Medicine's Future Can Be As Bright As Its W. Charles Witzleben Past Non-Traditional Academic Medical Centers August G. Swanson, M.D. Discussion Leaders: John F. Record COMBINED ALUMNI AND DEVELOPMENT PRO-Gail L. Anderson GRAM The PR Problem of AIDS: Alumni/Development Caucus Discussion Leaders: John Deats Discussion Leader: Arthur M. Brink, Jr. Gregory Graze PR PROGRAM Supporting the Legislative Effort Discussion Leaders: D. Gayle McNutt Marketing Strategies That Work

Susan Reynolds

J. Antony Lloyd

Who's in Charge of Marketing

Discussion Leaders: Gloria Howton

Marketing Clinical Services of Academic Med-

ical Centers

Discussion Leaders: Anne Doll Roland Wussow

Is Talk Cheap?: Radio-TV as a PR Tool Discussion Leaders: Eldean Borg Douglas Buck

Publications: Keeping Costs Down and Read-

ership Up

Discussion Leader: Bill D. Glance Medical Magazines: State of the Art

Discussion Leaders: Jeff Miller Susan Sample

GROUP ON STUDENT AFFAIRS

October 27

GSA Plenary Session

A Nuts and Bolts Approach to Student Affairs

Moderator: Ture W. Schoultz, Ph.D.

Financial Assistance Ruth Beer Bletzinger

Minority Affairs

Carolyn M. Carter, Ph.D.

Student Affairs

Jack C. Gardner, M.D.

Admissions Billy B. Rankin

Student Affairs: Student Advocacy vs.

Institutional Responsibility
Panel: Henry M. Seidel, M.D.
Bernice Sigman, M.D.
Joanna H. Spiro, Ed.D.

Admissions: Managing Multiple Accept-

ances-Traffic Rules Revisited

Billy B. Rankin

Charles E. Spooner, Jr., Ph.D.

Financial Assistance: MEDLOANS—What

Do You Think So Far?

Moderator: Robert L. Beran, Ph.D.

Panel: Robert Colonna
William F. Kidwell
Kevin Moehn
Richard Randlett

Student Affairs: AIDS—and its Effect on Undergraduate Medical Education David Altman, M.D.

Admissions: Premedical Requirements-Time

for Review, Time for Change?

Gerald Foster, M.D. J. Donald Hare, M.D.

October 28

Student Affairs: Grading Systems and Their Effect on Residency Selection Clyde G. Huggins, Ph.D.

Morris Kerstein, M.D.
Wallace Tomlinson, M.D.

Admissions: Does Quality Decrease with a

Declining Applicant Pool? John B. Molidor, Ph.D. Cynthia G. Tudor, Ph.D.

Financial Assistance: Financial Planning Program, Part 1—Medical Student on the

Block—What is Your Bid?

Moderator: Marilyn A. Comer

Panel: Joan M. May

Charles E. Spooner, Jr., Ph.D.

Admissions: Trends in the Selection of Underrepresented Minorities (the Wheel Goes 'Round)

Leonard E. Lawrence, M.D.

Financial Assistance: Financial Planning Program, Part II—Sign on the Dotted Line:

Passivity to Bankruptcy

Moderator: Kathryn F. Fink, Ph.D. Speaker: Pearl Rosenberg, Ph.D.

Student Affairs: Trends in Graduation Questionnaire Data, 1981–1986 Cynthia G. Tudor, Ph.D.

Student Affairs: The Fourth Year Curriculum—Poor Utilization?
Paul R. Mehne. Ph.D.

Stephanie S. Rand

Admissions: The MCAT—Constructive Use

or Abuse?

Karen Mitchell, Ph.D. Nancy A. Solomon, M.D.

Student Affairs: Career Counseling in an Era of Changing Medical Practice

Linda D. Lewis, M.D. John D. Tolmie, M.D.

October 29

Student Affairs: Dismissing the Problem

Student

Moderator: Ronald D. Franks, M.D.

Panel: Daniel Frank, M.D. Carl J. Getto, M.D. Grant Miller, M.D. Kenneth Tardiff, M.D.

Admissions: Current Issues in Admissions: A Challenge to Develop an Information Exchange Network among Admissions Officers A. Geno Andreatta

W. Clifford Newman, Ph.D.

Financial Assistance: Status of Federal Pro-

grams

Moderator: Ruth Beer Bletzinger

Status of Health Manpower Programs

Michael Heningburg

Status of Higher Education Act Programs

David Baime

Financial Assistance: Financial Planning Program, Part III—Repayment to Retirement: Long-term Implications of Mortgaging Your Life

Moderator: Dorothy E. Brinsfield, M.D.

Speaker: Theresa Orr

Student Affairs: The NRMP—How It Works

Phyllis Weiland

Admissions: MCAT Essay Pilot Project—A

Progress Report

Moderator: Robert I. Keimowitz, M.D.

Panel: Zenaido Camacho, Ph.D.

Terry Leigh, Ed.D. Marliss Strange

October 30

GSA Business Meeting

GSA-MINORITY AFFAIRS SECTION

October 26

Minority Medical Career Awareness Workshop

October 27

Regional Meetings

Business Meeting

Speakers: Margaret Haynes, Ed.D. Robert L. Volle, Ph.D.

High School Health Professions Programs— Effectiveness in Increasing the Minority **Applicant Pool**

Moderators: Maxine Bleich; Maggie S. Wright, Ph.D.

Panel: Manny Begay

Harry J. Knopke, Ph.D. William A. Thomson, Ph.D. E. Belvin Williams, Ph.D.

October 28

Minority Affairs Program

Speaker: Cornelius Hopper, M.D.

October 29

GSA-MAS Symposium

Increasing the Minority Applicant Pool-A Comprehensive Approach

Moderator: Margaret C. Woodbury, M.D.

GSA-MAS Research Forum

Research on Minorities in Medical Education

Moderator: Stephen Keith, M.D. Panel: Evelyn W. Jackson, Ph.D. Elena K. Lesser, Ed.D. Karen Mitchell, Ph.D. Cecilia M. Roberts, Ph.D. Vera B. Thurmond, Ed.D.

GSA-MAS Workshop on Research Principles.

Practices, and Publications

Moderator: Fernando Mendoza, M.D.

Panel: Henry Frierson, Ph.D. Paul Jolly, Ph.D. Merrill McCord

William Sedlacek, Ph.D.

GROUP ON MEDICAL EDUCATION

October 26

GME Mini-Workshops

THE PROCESS APPROACH: AN ALTERNATIVE TO CONTENT TUTORING

Organizer: Norma E. Wagoner, Ph.D. Faculty: Dorothy H. Air, Ph.D. Carol Banks Setter, Ph.D.

EVALUATING AND REWARDING EXCELLENCE IN TEACHING IN MEDICAL EDUCATION PROGRAMS

Organizer: Howard L. Stone, Ph.D.

THE ADVANTAGE OF UTILIZING SKILLED NURSING FACILITY AS A TEACHING SITE FOR RESIDENTS, FELLOWS, AND MEDICAL STUDENTS

Organizer: Elaine J. Lenkei
Faculty: Roseanne Berger
David M. Holden, M.D.
Daniel Morelli, M.D.

HOW COMPUTERS HELP CURRICULUM PLANNING AND EVALUATION

Organizer: Edward M. Sellers, M.D.

Faculty: Jon Veloski
Peter Wan
Mahmood Kara
James J. Haf, Ph.D.
William Mattern, M.D.

COUNSELING MEDICAL STUDENTS AND RESIDENTS IN SELECTING A CAREER: TECHNIQUES FOR MEDICAL SCHOOL FACULTY AND RESIDENCY TRAINING PROGRAM DIRECTORS
Organizer: Leslie S. Jewett, Ed.D.

Faculty: Larrie W. Greenberg, M.D. Zandy B. Leibowitz, Ph.D.

TEACHING DURING THE PATIENT ENCOUNTER

Organizer: Franklin J. Medio, Ph.D.

Faculty: Steven Borkan, M.D. Linda Lesky, M.D. LuAnn Wilkerson, Ed.D. DEVELOPING AND MAINTAINING A
RESIDENT RATING SYSTEM

Organizer: John H. Littlefield, Ph.D. Faculty: James J. Gaspard, M.D. Gary D. Harris, M.D.

DEVELOPING CASES FOR PROBLEM-BASED LEARNING

Organizer: Stewart P. Mennin, Ph.D.
Faculty: Elizabeth Baca
Stewart Duban, M.D.
Arthur Kaufman, M.D.
Susan M. Lucero
Nancy Martinez-Burrola
Stewart P. Mennin, Ph.D.
Scott Obenshain, M.D.

COMPUTER CONFERENCING FOR MEDICAL EDUCATORS

Bert Umland, M.D.

Organizer: George Nowacek, Ph.D. Faculty: Doug Smith
Clyde Tucker, M.D.

COMMUNITY-BASED STUDENT RESEARCH PROJECTS AS A MEANS OF INDEPENDENT LEARNING

Organizer: David B. Reuben, M.D. Faculty: Stephen R. Smith, M.D.

HELPING STUDENTS IN ACADEMIC DIFFICULTY

Organizer: Karen Collins-Eiland, Ph.D. Faculty: Karen Collins-Eiland, Ph.D. Lester M. Geller. Ph.D.

GME Generalists Co-Sponsored Session

ETHNOGRAPHIC, NATURALISTIC, AND QUALITATIVE METHODS IN EVALUATING MEDICAL EDUCATION

Organizer: Larry Laufman, Ed.D.

TEACHING RESIDENTS HOW TO TEACH
Organizers: Janine C. Edwards, Ph.D.
C. Benjamin Meleca, Ph.D.

Faculty: Janine C. Edwards, Ph.D. C. Benjamin Meleca, Ph.D. James A. Pearsol Warren C. Plauche, M.D.

OBJECTIVE STRUCTURED CLINICAL EXAMS Organizer: Emil R. Petrusa, Ph.D.

Faculty: Thomas A. Blackwell, M.D. Sharon Parcel

COMPUTER-ASSISTED INSTRUCTION IN THE CLINICAL CURRICULUM: WHAT IT CAN AND CANNOT CONTRIBUTE TO THE EDUCATION OF PHYSICIANS

Organizer: James McCorkel, Ph.D.

Faculty: John Culleton, M.D.
James McCorkel, Ph.D.
Yehia Mishriki, M.D.
Ollie Jane Z. Sahler, M.D.

GME Problem-Based Learning Group Co-Sponsored Session

PERFORMANCE-BASED MULTIPLE STATIONS EXAMINATION: A CONCEPTUAL AND HANDS-ON APPROACH TO ITS DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT, ADMINISTRATION, SCORE INTERPRETATION, AND REPORTING

Organizer: Nu Viet Vu, Ph.D.

Faculty: Michelle Marcy
David Steward, M.D.
Steve J. Verhulst
Nu Viet Vu, Ph.D.
Reed G. Williams, Ph.D.

FOSTERING EFFECTIVE SELF CRITIQUE: FOR LEARNERS AND OURSELVES

Organizer: Hilliard Jason, M.D. Faculty: Jane Westberg, Ph.D.

THE HIDDEN CURRICULUM IN MEDICAL EDUCATION

Organizer/

Faculty: Kelly M. Skeff, M.D.

October 26

Curriculum Deans' Sessions

MANAGING THE CHANGE PROCESS Orientation: Paula L. Stillman, M.D.

Program Options

Special General Session—Graduate Medical Education and Transition from Medical School to Residency

Managing the Change Process: A Workshop David Irby, Ph.D.

Maximizing Your Professional Staff's Performance and Productivity: A Skills Workshop Paul Taylor Gerald Escovitz, M.D.

GROUP DISCUSSIONS ON AAMC GRADUATE MED-ICAL EDUCATION REPORT AND ISSUES OF BROAD CONCERN TO CURRICULUM DEANS

Moderators:
Barry D. Lindley, Ph.D.
David Altman, M.D.
Fredric D. Burg, M.D.
Terrence T. Kuske, M.D.
Julian I. Kitay, M.D.

Stephen Smith, M.D.

October 26

GME/SMCDCME Joint Sessions

ALTERNATIVES IN TEACHING AND LEARNING

Moderator: Harold A. Paul, M.D.

Panel: John D. Chappell, M.D. Peter A.J. Bouhuijs, Ph.D.

PROGRESS IN COGNITIVE SCIENCE—
PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS FOR CURRENT
MEDICAL EDUCATORS

Moderator: W. Dale Dauphinee, M.D.
Panel: Georges Bordage, M.D.
Henk Schmidt, Ph.D.
Geoffrey R. Norman, Ph.D.

CME APPLICATIONS OF COMPUTERS IN MEDICAL EDUCATION

Moderator: David S. Gullion, M.D.

Panel: Phil R. Manning, M.D. Wayne Putnam, M.D.

GME/SMCDCME Co-Sponsored Plenary Session

EDUCATING PHYSICIANS TO FUNCTION IN THE NEW HEALTH CARE ENVIRONMENT

Moderator: Gerald H. Escovitz, M.D.

Speaker: Leonard Katz, M.D.

Panel: Saul Farber, M.D. Harold A. Paul, M.D. Theodore J. Phillips

October 27

GME REGIONAL MEETINGS
GME National Meeting

Innovations in Medical Education Discussion Groups

Instructional Design or Evaluation of Basic Science Courses—Traditional and Problem

Based Approaches

Resource: Franklin Medio, Ph.D. Phyllis Blumberg, Ph.D.

Instructional Design or Evaluation or Introduction to Clinical Medical Courses

Resource: Jon H. Levine, M.D.

Instructional Design or Evaluation of Clinical

Clerkships

Resource: Louise Arnold, Ph.D. Computer Based Communication Resource: Clyde Tucker, M.D.

Data Base Management Resource: Barbara J.N. Hunt

Educational Software

Resource: Lisa Leiden, Ph.D.

Approaches to the Development and Assessment of Values, Attitudes, and Personal

Qualities

Resource: Janet Bickel

Linda Blank

Education Support Systems for Students— "Too Much Chicken Soup"

100 Mach Chicken Soap

Resource: Evelyn Jackson, Ph.D.

Instructional Design or Evaluation of Residency Programs: "What Are We Prepar-

ing Residents For?"

Larrie Greenberg, M.D.

Innovative Approaches to Admissions and

Student Financial Aid

Resource: E. Virginia Calkins

Approaches to Problem Based Learning— Learning Medicine: The New Mexico

Experiment

Resource: Ben Diatz

Arthur Kaufman, M.D. Stewart Mennin, Ph.D.

GME/GSA-MAS JOINT SESSION

HIGH SCHOOL HEALTH PROFESSIONS PROGRAMS: EFFECTIVENESS IN

INCREASING THE MINORITY APPLICANT

POOL

Moderator: Maxine Bleich

Panel: Manny Begay

Harry J. Knopke, Ph.D. William A. Thomson, Ph.D. E. Belvin Williams, Ph.D.

October 28

GME Plenary Session

PROMOTING AND ASSURING THE COMPETENCE OF GRADUATES THROUGH ASSESSMENT

Overview/Introduction/Moderator S. Scott Obenshain, M.D.

Presentation of Institutional Experiences:

Southern Illinois University Reed G. Williams, Ph.D.

University of Massachusetts Paula L. Stillman, M.D.

University of Adelaide David B. Swanson, Ph.D.

Impact on the Continuum: Three Perspec-

tives:

Medical Student Education Robert S. Daniels, M.D.

Resident Education Thomas K. Oliver, M.D.

Licensure

Bryant Galusha, M.D.

SHARING INSTITUTIONAL EXPERIENCE:

REPRESENTATIVE ASSESSMENT

APPROACHES

Southern Illinois, University of Massachusetts, University of Adelaide, University of New Mexico, University of Texas-Galveston, University of Limburg-Maastricht-The Netherlands, University of Calgary, Alverno College, University of Ottawa

Self Directed Learning: Finding a New Balance in Medical Education
Donald H. Brundage, Ed.D.

October 29

RIME ROUND TABLE DISCUSSIONS

Clinical Decision Making Hosted by Geoffrey R. Norman, Ph.D.

The Link Between Health Services Research and Medical Education Hosted by Rose Yunker, Ph.D.

Research Issues on Clinical Teaching Hosted by Janine C. Edwards, Ph.D.

Research Priorities for CME Hosted by David S. Gullion, M.D.

Teaching Medical Ethics and Medical Humanities
Hosted by Sandra Bertman

Research Issues in Graduate Medical Education

Hosted by Larrie Greenberg, M.D.

Evaluation of Clinical Performance Hosted by Reed G. Williams, Ph.D.

Academic Support Systems/Minority Retention Research

Hosted by Miriam Willey, Ph.D.

Managing Medical Information/Medical Informatics
Hosted by Charles P. Friedman, Ph.D.

Deriving Health Manpower Requirements and Curriculum Content from National Health Priorities

Hosted by Tamas Fulop, M.D., and J. J. Guilbert, M.D.

October 29

RIME Conference

Silver Anniversary Plenary Session

CHALLENGES FOR MEDICAL EDUCATION RESEARCHERS IN THE CHANGING HEALTH CARE ENVIRONMENT

Moderator: Murray M. Kappelman, M.D.

Keynote Speaker:

The Challenges and Options for Meeting the Changes

Carl J. Schramm, Ph.D.

Reactor Panel:

A Hospital Administrator's View Spencer Foreman, M.D.

A Foundation President's View John G. Freymann, M.D.

An Educational Researcher's View Wayne K. Davis, Ph.D.

RIME Paper Sessions

TEACHING CLINICAL SKILLS

Moderator: Paula L. Stillman, M.D.

Discussant: Ian R. Hart, M.D.

A Prospective Educational Trial Comparing Efficacy of Computer-Assisted Learning and Weekly Seminars in Teaching EKG Interpretation

Ruth-Marie E. Fincher, M.D., et al.

Long-Term Effects of Breast Exam Teaching Unit in Physical Diagnosis on Medical Students' Practice Imogene Smith, Ed.D., et al.

Evaluation of an Animal Simulation To Teach Endotracheal Intubation Mahesh P. Mehta, M.D., et al.

HARVEY: The Impact of a Cardiovascular Teaching Simulator on Student Skill Acquisition

James O. Woolliscroft, M.D., et al.

MEDICAL ETHICS AND HUMANISTIC VALUES

Moderator: T. Joseph Sheehan, Ph.D.

Discussant: Sandra Bertman

Learning and Teaching the Process of Informed Consent Carolina E. Yahne, Ph.D., et al.

Medical Students' Perceptions of Pre-Clinical Medical Ethics Teaching Kenneth Howe, Ph.D.

Teaching Interviewing Skills to First Year Medical Students: Do They Learn? Joan Harvey, M.D., et al.

The Ideal Physician: An Analysis from Two Perspectives Theresa J. Jordan, Ph.D., et al. **EVALUATION OF CLINICAL COMPETENCE**

Moderator: Frank Stritter, Ph.D.

Discussant: Richard Wakeford

Evaluating Clinical Competence in Anesthesia: Using Faculty Comments to Develop Criteria

M. Frances Rhoton, Ph.D., et al.

Comparing Self and Supervisor Evaluations:

A Different View

Paul Kolm, Ph.D., et al.

An Evaluation of the Construct Validity of Four Alternative Theories of Clinical Competence

Jack L. Maatsch, Ph.D., et al.

CURRICULUM CHANGE

Moderator: Robert Rippey, Ph.D.

Discussant: Charles W. Dohner, Ph.D.

New Directions for Organizing Structural

Curriculum Reform Barbara J. Hunt, et al.

Influential Literature in Medical Education Eta S. Berner, Ed.D., et al.

Factors Influencing Experiential Learning of

Medical Students on Third Year Family

Medicine Clerkships

Donald Witzke, Ph.D., et al.

Programmatic and Institutional Quality Analysis: The Perspective of the Alumni Robert P. O'Reilly, Ph.D., et al.

ADMISSION AND SELECTION DECISIONS

Moderator: Robert Keimowitz, M.D.

Discussant: Thomas J. Cullen, Ph.D.

Characteristics of Students Recruited in Different Types of Medical Schools

Brigitte Maheux, M.D., Ph.D., et al.

Career Choices of Men and Women in Medicine: A Study of a Cohort of Recent

Medical Graduates

Christel A. Woodward, Ph.D., et al.

Exploring the Relationship of Entry and Performance Data to NBME Part I Examination Scores for Use in Decision Making James J. Haf, Ph.D.

CLINICAL DECISIONS MAKING, PART I

Moderator: Fredric D. Burg, M.D.

Discussant: Georges Bordage, M.D., Ph.D.

Training Resident Physicians to Use Clinical

Prediction Rules

David A. Bergman, M.D., et al.

An Approach to Teaching and Evaluating Diagnostic Reasoning

Carlyle Chan, M.D., et al.

The Impact of Clinical Appearance on Pediatric Residents' Assessment of the Febrile Infant

David A. Bergman, M.D., et al.

CME AND POSTDOCTORAL EDUCATION

Moderator: Dave Davis, M.D.

Discussant: W. Dale Dauphinee, M.D.

The Effects of Continuing Medical Education Upon Family Physician Performance in the

Office Management of Hypertension

Penny Jennett, Ph.D., et al.

The Role of the Consultation Process in Physician Learning

Jocelyn Lockyer, et al.

Review of Family Medicine Faculty Development Fellowship Programs, Their Alumni and Recommendations for Future Programs

Carole J. Bland, Ph.D., et al.

IMPACT OF PRIOR EXPERIENCE

Moderator: Donn Weinholtz, Ph.D.

Discussant: Gordon Page, Ed.D.

The Relationships of Clinical Exposure to Examination Performance on a Surgical Clerkship

Robert Cohen, Ph.D., et al.

Practical Experience in the Pre-Registration Year in Relation to Undergraduate Preparation

Brian Jolly, et al.

The Influence of Prior Experience and Confidence on Physician Preferences for Information Sources and Continuity of Care Larry D. Gruppen, et al. CLINICAL DECISION MAKING, PART II

Moderator: Daniel Frank, M.D.

Discussant: Arthur Elstein, Ph.D.

Some Cognitive Characteristics of Medical Students with and Without Diagnostic Reasoning Difficulties Georges Bordage, M.D., Ph.D., et al.

Clinical Decision Making: A Study to Define Educational Objectives for Resident Physicians David Hickam, M.D., et al.

Decision Making of Internists and Family Physicians in the Netherlands Jaap G.M. Gerritsma, Ph.D.

ISSUES IN CERTIFICATION

Moderator: James B. Erdmann, Ph.D.

Discussant: John S. Lloyd, Ph.D.

Defining the Content of Board Certification Examinations

Nicholas Pisacano, M.D., et al.

Something Old, Something New: The Certification Examination of the United Kingdom Royal College of General Practitioners
Richard Wakeford, et al.

Utilization of In-Training Examinations for Curriculum Evaluation: A Model from the Surgical Residency

Marcia Z. Wile, Ph.D., et al.

COMPUTERS AND INFORMATION TRANSFER

Moderator: David B. Swanson, Ph.D.

Discussant: Richard B. Friedman, M.D.

Formative Evaluation of a Structured Data Base as an Educational Strategy in Medical Microbiology

Charles P. Friedman, Ph.D., et al.

Teaching Clinicans To Search MEDLINE: Description and Evaluation of a Short Course Ann McKibbon, et al.

A Program of Microcomputer Use in a Junior Internal Medicine Clerkship Robert C. Talley, M.D.

CHANGES IN MEDICAL PRACTICE

Moderator: George Zimny, Ph.D.

Discussant: John G. Freymann, M.D.

A Re-Evaluation of the Projected Physician Surplus in the United States Steven J. Jacobsen, et al.

Perceived Influence of the Medicare Prospective Payment System on Education and Practice: Comparison of University and Affiliated Hospitals Barbara Barzansky, Ph.D., et al.

The Organizational, Professional, and Clinical Characteristics of General Practitioners and Family Physicians' Medical Practice Brigitte Maheux, M.D., Ph.D., et al.

CLINICAL TEACHING AND CLINICAL PERFORMANCE

Moderator: S. Scott Obenshain, M.D.

Discussant: Kelly M. Skeff, M.D., Ph.D.

Effective Attending Physician Teaching: The Correlation of Observed Instructional Activities and Learner Ratings of Teaching Effectiveness

Donn Weinholtz, Ph.D., et al.

Perceived Performance and Clinical Experiences: A Comparative Evaluation Across Five Clerkships Judith G. Calhoun, Ph.D., et al.

The Effect of a Monitoring System on Clinical Training

Debra DaRosa, Ph.D., et al.

ATTITUDES AND RELATIONSHIPS IN THE LEARNING PROCESS

Moderator: Winfield Scott, Ph.D.

Discussant: D. Daniel Hunt, M.D.

Distress and Attitudes Toward the Learning Environment: Effects of a Curriculum Innovation

Maggi Moore-West, Ph.D., et al.

Empirical Observations on the Stability and Attitudinal Correlates of Warmth and Caring in Medical Students Peter B. Zeldow, Ph.D. ing Relation Fredrich Change A Four Susan

Reliability and Validity of the Medical Helping Relationship Inventory Fredric M. Wolf, Ph.D., et al.

Change in Medical Student Learning Styles: A Four Year Prospective Study Susan Wentz, M.D., et al.

October 29

RIME Symposia

MEDICAL EDUCATION AND HEALTH SERVICES DELIVERY—FORGING RESEARCH LINKS

Organizer/

Moderator: Rose Yunker, Ph.D.

Panel: Jack L. Maatsch, Ph.D. Edwin Rosinski, Ed.D. Abdul W. Sajid, Ed.D.

SELF-DIRECTED LEARNING AND PHYSICIANS' PRACTICE CHANGES: CONCEPTS, RESEARCH, AND IMPLICATIONS FOR CME

Organizer: Philip Bashook, Ed.D.

Moderator: Thomas C. Meyer, M.D.

Panel: Robert J. Long, Ph.D. John Parboosingh, M.D. Robert K. Richards, Ph.D.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE ORAL EXAMINATION AS PART OF SPECIALIST CERTIFICATION EXAMINATIONS: AN INTERNATIONAL PERSPECTIVE

Organizer/

Moderator: Richard Wakeford

Panel: Andrew Belton, M.D.
Jack L. Maatsch, Ph.D.
Geoffrey R. Norman, Ph.D.
Paul Rainsberry, Ph.D.

THE USE OF HEALTH CARE DATA IN MEDICAL EDUCATION

Organizer/Moderator: Victor R. Neufeld, M.D.

Panel: Elizabeth Alger, M.D. John Chong, M.D. Robert Lawrence, M.D. PARALLEL INNOVATIVE TRACKS: ARE THEY AN EFFECTIVE VEHICLE FOR CHANGING TRADITIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION?

Organizer: Arthur Kaufman, M.D.

Moderator: Myra Ramos

Panel: Phyllis Blumberg, Ph.D. Arthur Kaufman, M.D. Douglas B. McKeag, M.D.

THE USE OF SITE VISITS TO EVALUATE CLINICAL CLERKSHIPS

Organizer: Karin E. Wetmore Moderator: Lawrence LaPalio, M.D.

Panel: Fredric D. Burg, M.D. Gerard M. Cerchio, M.D. Myra B. Ramos

DILEMMAS IN THE EVALUATION OF RESIDENTS

Organizer/

Moderator: Agnes G. Rezler, Ph.D.
Panel: Nadine C. Bruce, M.D.
John S. Lloyd, Ph.D.
Brian P. Schmitt, M.D.

October 30

GME Small Group Discussion

IMPROVING EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH IN NIH CENTERS

Moderator: Charles P. Friedman, Ph.D.

Panel: Tommy L. Broadwater, Ph.D. Sam Brown, Ed.D. Wayne K. Davis, Ph.D.

IMPLEMENTING PROBLEM-BASED LEARNING: PROBLEMS, PITFALLS, AND POSSIBLE SOLUTIONS

Moderator: Mimi Wetzel, Ph.D.

Panel: Elizabeth Brain, M.D. Linda Distlehorst Douglas McKeag, M.D. William Shragge, M.D.

DEFINING AND MEASURING SELF-DIRECTED LEARNING

Moderator: Terrill A. Mast, Ph.D.

Panel: Debra A. DaRosa, Ph.D. Peter Powles, M.D.

Bart E. Umland, M.D.

MEASUREMENT ISSUES IN ASSESSMENT OF CLINICAL SKILLS

Moderator: David B. Swanson, Ph.D.
Panel: Victor R. Neufeld, M.D.
Mary Beth Regan, Ed.D.
Reed G. Williams, Ph.D.

SELECTION AND PREPARATION OF TUTORS FOR PROBLEM-BASED LEARNING

Moderator: LuAnn Wilkerson, Ed.D.

Panel: Stewart Mennin, Ph.D.

ASSESSING THE ABILITY OF MEDICAL STUDENTS TO USE BASIC SCIENCE MATERIAL—COMPLETING THE FEEDBACK LOOP

Moderator: Clyde Tucker, M.D.

Panel: Paul Feltovich, Ph.D. Parker Small, M.D. Bryce Templeton, M.D.

THE UTILIZATION OF INSTITUTIONAL EXPERTISE IN GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION

Moderator: Gerald H. Escovitz, M.D.

Panel: J. Roland Folse, M.D. Larrie Greenberg, M.D.

THE PRE-RESIDENCY SYNDROME: FACTS AND FALLACIES

Moderator: Stephen R. Smith, M.D.

Panel: Norma Wagoner, Ph.D.

PARALLEL INNOVATIVE TRACKS: A
POLITICAL STRATEGY FOR INSTITUTIONAL
CHANGE IN TRADITIONAL MEDICAL SCHOOLS

Moderator: Arthur Kaufman, M.D.

Panel: Phyllis Blumberg, Ph.D. Stewart Duban, M.D. Douglas McKeag, M.D. Myra B. Ramos

UNCOVERING NEW PATIENT RESOURCES FOR AMBULATORY TEACHING OR THE VANISHING PATIENT

Moderator: Nancy E. Gary, M.D.

COMPUTER ASSISTED INSTRUCTION AND LEARNING: CURRENT STATUS AND

DEVELOPMENT

Moderator: Tracy L. Veach, Ed.D.

Panel: Ronald Comer, Ph.D. Martin Kamp, M.D.

IMPLEMENTATION OF PROBLEM BASED LEARNING AS AN INTEGRATED CURRICULUM COMPONENT

Moderator: Joel D. Feinblatt, Ph.D.

Panel: Paul R. Mehne, Ph.D. Clinton H. Toewe, II, M.D.

INVOLVING STUDENTS IN RESEARCH

Moderator: Daniel Frank, M.D.

Panel: Richard Cruess, M.D. Robert Griggs, M.D. Paul Heil

REVIEW OF CURRICULUM INNOVATION IN UNDERGRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION

Moderator: Laurence Fisher, Ph.D.

Panel: M. Brownell Anderson
Doreen Cleave-Hogg, D.Ed.
Paul Grover, Ph.D.

October 30

GME Mini-Workshops

MICROCOMPUTER LITERACY AND SKILLS FOR MEDICAL EDUCATORS—Introduction to the Macintosh and Its Features

Organizer: Tracy L. Veach, Ed.D.

Faculty: Larry Doyle Lisa Leiden, Ph.D.

MICROCOMPUTER LITERACY AND SKILLS FOR MEDICAL EDUCATORS—Introduction to MS-DOS Based Machines and Professional Software Applications

Organizer: Tracy L. Veach, Ed.D.

Faculty: Jan Carline, Ph.D. Tracy Veach, Ed.D.

Innovations in Medical Education Exhibits

October 26, 27, and 28

DESIRABLE PERSONAL QUALITIES, VALUES AND ATTITUDES

INDICATORS OF POTENTIAL ALUMNI INVOLVE-MENT COLLECTED BY SURVEY Barbara L. Moser STUDENT STRESS AND STUDENT ATTITUDES: AS-SESSING MEDICAL SCHOOL EXPERIENCE Brett Steenbarger, Ph.D.

ASSESSING THE GLOBAL COMPETENCIES OF MEDICAL STUDENTS

A.F. Payer, Ph.D., et al.

HONORS PROGRAM IN MEDICAL ONCOLOGY: A PROGRAM IN CLINICAL RESEARCH O. Scott Ringenberg, M.D., et al.

COMMUNITY SCIENCE RURAL PRECEPTORSHIP Richard D. Fehlenberg, M.D.

INTEGRATING HUMAN VALUES TEACHING INTO CLINICAL EDUCATION

Janet Bickel

L. Blank

ADMISSIONS AND STUDENT FINANCIAL AID

SURVEY OF MEDICAL SCHOOL GRADUATES'
STRATEGIES FOR MANAGING THEIR MEDICAL
EDUCATION DEBTS

David R. Perry, et al.

USE OF ALTERNATIVE STANDARDIZED TESTS IN SELECTING MEDICAL STUDENTS: THE FIRST YEAR'S EXPERIENCE N.D. Anderson, M.D.

THE STRUCTURE AND FUNCTIONS OF AN ADMISSIONS COMMITTEE

G.R. Ragan, et al.

CORRELATION OF APPLICANT CHARACTERISTICS WITH SELECTION INTO A SIX-YEAR COMBINED B.A.-M.D. PROGRAM—A FIVE YEAR REVIEW E.V. Calkins, et al.

ANALYZING THE LEARNING AND THINKING PROBLEMS OF MEDICAL STUDENTS WHO FAIL PART I OF NATIONAL BOARDS R. Blanc, et al.

CLINICAL CLERKSHIPS

WHAT IS AN ADEQUATE PATIENT BASE FOR MEDICAL EDUCATION?

C.J. Riordan, Ph.D., et al.

CONDITION DIAGRAMMING: A NEW METHOD FOR TEACHING AND EVALUATING CLINICAL DATA INTEGRATION I. Jon Russell, M.D., Ph.D., et al.

TEACHING JUNIOR AND SENIOR MEDICAL STU-DENTS THE SKILLS OF PATIENT EDUCATION AND MOTIVATION

L. Farquhar, Ph.D., et al.

PREPARATION IN CLINICAL PROBLEM SOLVING FOR CLERKSHIP

Peter Price, M.D., Ph.D., et al.

THE DOCENT TEAM CONCEPT IN MEDICAL EDU-CATION

L. Arnold, Ph.D., et al.

CONTINUOUS ASSESSMENT OF CLERKSHIPS US-ING LOGBOOK AND MICROCOMPUTER TECHNOL-OGY

Patrick Mongan, M.D.

DO CLINICAL SITE AND DURATION INFLUENCE MEDICAL STUDENT PERFORMANCE IN SURGERY? M.J. Jacobson, et al.

OSCE DATABANK INTERNATIONAL Ian R. Hart

TEACHING IN MEDICINE: AN ELECTIVE FOR THIRD YEAR STUDENTS
Jennifer Craig, Ph.D., et al.

RESIDENCY PROGRAMS

SOCIETY OF TEACHERS OF EMERGENCY MEDI-CINE GOALS AND OBJECTIVES PROJECT John L. Lyman, M.D.

TRAINING FOR COMPETENCE: A FUNCTIONAL APPROACH TO RESIDENCY MANAGEMENT D. Cole, Ed.D., et al.

FACULTY DEVELOPMENT AND CME

DEVELOPMENT AND UTILIZATION OF A SLIDE-TAPE ORIENTATION PROGRAM FOR AN OFFICE— BASED FAMILY MEDICINE ROTATION Dennis Baker, Ph.D., et al.

RESIDENCY TEACHER SERIES J.B. Battles, Ph.D., et al.

GOOD MEDICAL PRACTICE IS GOOD EDUCA-TIONAL PRACTICE: A MODEL FOR A FACULTY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM Howard L. Stone, Ph.D., et al.

A CME CURRICULUM FOR GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

E.B.J. de Groot, et al.

EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT SYSTEMS

THE NETWORK—A PEER COUNSELING PROGRAM FOR MEDICAL STUDENTS
W.D. Zerega, Ed.D., et al.

APPLICANT POOLS: IMPLICATIONS FOR RECRUIT-MENT AND RETENTION PROGRAMS Judy Garrett, et al.

BOARDWALK: A COMPREHENSIVE PREP PRO-GRAM FOR NB PART I Judy Schwenker, et al.

MEDPREP FOLLOW-UP: IMPACT OF A PRE-PROFESSIONAL PROGRAM E.W. Jackson, et al.

STUDENT STRESS REDUCTION THROUGH INFOR-MAL SUPPORT GROUPS S.M. Wagner, et al.

MENTOR PROGRAM FOR FIRST YEAR MEDICAL STUDENTS

M.B. Tamburrino, et al.

STUDENT AFFAIRS CARES: A NEW ORIENTATION PROGRAM

J.H. Spiro, et al.

INTRODUCTION TO CLINICAL MEDICINE

SIMULATED PATIENTS IN AN INTRODUCTION TO CLINICAL MEDICINE COURSE John H. Shatzer, et al.

THE COMMUNITY RESOURCES PROJECT: VISITS TO COMMUNITY SERVICES BY FIRST YEAR MEDICAL STUDENTS

J.P. Pennell, et al.

AN INTRODUCTION TO HOME HEALTH CARE FOR FIRST YEAR MEDICAL STUDENTS Elizabeth Kachur, et al.

STUDENT LED PROJECTS IN THE FIRST YEAR AT TEMPLE MEDICAL SCHOOL

John E. Fryer, M.D.

FOURTH-YEAR MEDICAL STUDENTS AS CLINICAL INSTRUCTORS IN AN INTRODUCTION TO CLINICAL MEDICINE COURSE

D.E. Steward, et al.

A MODEL FOR EVALUATING THE DEVELOPING CLINICAL COMPETENCE OF THIRD YEAR MEDICAL STUDENTS

Howard L. Stone, Ph.D., et al.

THE USE OF INTERACTIVE VIDEO TEACHING AND EVALUATING INTERVIEWING SKILLS D. Applelbaum, et al.

TEACHING DIAGNOSTIC STRATEGIES TO PRE-CLINICAL STUDENTS William C. Mootz, M.D.

LECTURES ON DENTISTRY TO SECOND YEAR MEDICAL STUDENTS

M. Lorber, D.M.D., et al.

CLINICAL REASONING ENCOUNTER Reed G. Williams, Ph.D., et al.

INTERDISCIPLINARY HEALTH EDUCATION

VISITING PROFESSORSHIP IN NUTRITION PROGRAM

David A. Mark, Ph.D., et al.

THE EMORY STD TEACHING SECTION: A MULTI-DISCIPLINARY CURRICULUM IN SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED DISEASES M. McKay, M.D., et al.

ADOLESCENT ALCOHOLISM Lawrence L. Gable, Ph.D.

MEDICAL COST CONTAINMENT M.D. Jones, et al.

INTEGRATION OF EDUCATIONAL VIDEOS TO TEACHING BASIC SCIENCES INTO A TRADITIONAL MEDICAL CURRICULUM B. Goldstein, et al.

COMPUTERIZED TOMOGRAPHY OF THE HAND AND WRIST: A PROTOTYPE OF CROSS—SECTIONAL LEARNING MODULES FOR THE RADIOLOGY, ANATOMY, AND SURGERY DEPARTMENTS F. Chavez, et al.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN PREVENTION EDU-CATION

Association of Teachers of Preventive Medicine

CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT IN PREVENTIVE MEDICINE

Centers for Educational Development in Health

BASIC SCIENCE

INTEGRATING CLINICAL PROBLEM SOLVING WORKSHOPS AND LECTURES IN A BIOCHEMISTRY COURSE

Franklin Medio, Ph.D., et al.

VIDEO DEMONSTRATIONS FOR SOPHOMORE MEDICAL STUDENTS

Neil Love, M.D., et al.

BASIC SCIENCE SELF-TESTING SYSTEM J.R. Thornborough, Ph.D., et al.

INTERACTIVE CURRICULUM REVIEW: PROCESS FOR CHANGE

B.H. Bienia, et al.

GENETICS LEARNING SYSTEM Thomas I. Baker, Ph.D.

DEVELOPMENT AND EVALUATION OF PROBLEMS IN A PRECLINICAL PROBLEM BASED CURRICULUM

P. Blumberg, et al.

EDUCATION OF PRIMARY CARE PHYSICIANS FOR THE 21ST CENTURY

R. Menninger, et al.

COMPUTER APPLICATIONS IN MEDICAL EDUCATION

SOFTWARE TOOLS IN MEDICAL EDUCATION L.I. Leiden, Ph.D., et al.

USE OF A COMPREHENSIVE CURRICULUM REVIEW FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A MEDICAL CURRICULUM DATA BASE

Barbara J.N. Hunt, et al.

MICROCOMPUTER IN MEDICAL EDUCATION: AN EXPERIMENT IN ITS POPULARIZATION Dominic Cheung, et al.

A FLEXIBLE SYSTEM FOR PROCESSING CLINICAL PERFORMANCE RATINGS: ILLUSTRATIVE APPLICATIONS IN A RESIDENCY AND FOUR CLERKSHIPS

Gerald J. Cason, Ph.D., et al.

CREATING REAL-TIME 3-D ANIMATION WITH COMPUTERS

Doug Mann, et al.

COMPUTERIZED CLINICAL DOCUMENTATION M. Schaar, et al.

HEALTH SCIENCES CONSORTIUM COMPUTER-AS-SISTED INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS Vera Pfifferling, et al.

COMPUTER-BASED INTERACTIVE ANATOMICAL EDUCATION USING A VIDEODISC AND AUTHOR-ING SYSTEM

J. Nolte, Ph.D., et al.

ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF COMPUTER SOFT-WARE FOR ASSISTING IN MEDICAL SCHOOL EDUCATION

Louis Cornacchia, et al.

BEYOND THE LIBRARY: INTEGRATED ACADEMIC INFORMATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS AT GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY

Naomi C. Broering

COMPUTER-ASSISTED EVALUATION OF CLINICAL SKILLS

J.D. Engel, Ph.D., et al.

A COMPUTERIZED SYSTEM FOR EVALUATION OF STUDENT PERFORMANCE William Schwartz. M.D.

THE COMPUTER AS AN AID TO PROBLEM SOLV-ING LEARNING BY SURGICAL CLERKS I.H. Koven, M.D., et al.

ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE AND MEDICAL EDU-CATION: USE OF LOGIC ANALYSIS AS A PART OF CLINICAL MANAGEMENT SIMULATIONS Max D. Miller, Ed.D.

OBSERVATIONAL STUDIES USING HAND HELD MICROCOMPUTERS

K.J. Ferguson, Ph.D., et al.

Pathmac: AN INTERACTIVE MICROCOMPUTER/ VIDEO DISK SYSTEM FOR TEACHING PATHOLOGY Daniel Alonso, M.D., et al.

A RESIDENCY-BASED, COMPUTERIZED AMBULA-TORY CARE CENTER

Bruce Block, M.D., et al.

COURSE SCHEDULING AND CURRICULUM PLAN-NING

Mike DeWine, et al.

OTHER

MINORITY HIGH SCHOOL RESEARCH APPRENTICE PROGRAM

Nancy A. Solomon, M.D., et al.

ASSOCIATION FOR SURGICAL EDUCATION M.J. Peters, et al.

PATIENT MANAGEMENT SIMULATIONS: A RE-SOURCE CATALOG S.J. Love, et al.

THE AAMC FACULTY ROSTER SYSTEM T. Dial, Ph.D., et al.

PLASTINATION: AN INNOVATIVE METHOD OF SPECIMEN PRESERVATION FOR PATHOLOGY ED-UCATION

Robert S. Donner, M.D., et al.

USE OF A SURVEY OF GRADUATES AND PROGRAM DIRECTORS AS AN ASSESSMENT OF QUALITY IN A BS/MD PROGRAM
Brenda Beebe Duncan

ASSESSMENT OF PERFORMANCE OF GRADUATES DURING THEIR FIRST POSTGRADUATE YEAR AS

A CURRICULUM EVALUATION MECHANISM FOR MEDICAL SCHOOLS: EVALUATION OF AN ASSESSMENT INSTRUMENT DEVELOPED FOR THIS PROGRAM

Marilyn F.M. Johnston, M.D., Ph.D.

NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF DENTAL RESEARCH National Institute of Dental Research

CURRICULUM CHANGE IN A WELL ESTABLISHED MEDICAL SCHOOL Jan Ekholm, M.D., Ph.D., et al.

Minutes of AAMC Assembly Meeting

October 28, 1986

New Orleans, Louisiana

Call to Order

Dr. Virginia Weldon, AAMC Chairman, called the meeting to order at 8:15 a.m.

Quorum Call

Dr. Weldon recognized the presence of a quorum

Consideration of the Minutes

The minutes of the October 29, 1985, Assembly meeting were approved without change.

Report of the Chairman

Dr. Weldon began her report by welcoming Dr. Robert Petersdorf as the new president of the Association of American Medical Colleges. She also reported on a number of Executive Council committees which had met during the past year, including the MCAT Review Committee, the Research Policy Committee, and the Financing Graduate Medical Education Committee. Committees whose work was still in progress included a joint AAMC-AAHC Committee on Strategies to Promote Academic Medical Centers, the Faculty Practice Committee, and the Committee on Graduate Medical Education and the Transition from Medical School to Residency.

Dr. Weldon expressed her thanks to the staff of the Association and to the following members of the administrative boards and Executive Council whose terms were expiring: Arnold Brown, Richard Moy, and Jack Eckstein from the Council of Deans; Gordon Kaye and Jack Kostyo from the Council of Academic Societies; Robert Baker, Sheldon King, and Eric Munson from the Council of Teaching Hospitals; Richard Peters, Joann Elmore,

John DeJong, Ricardo Sanchez, Joanne Fruth, Vietta Johnson, Dan Schlager, James Stout, and Robert Welch from the Organization of Student Representatives; and Richard Janeway and Charles Sprague from the Executive Council.

Report of the President

Dr. Petersdorf began by referring the Assembly members to the Association's annual report, which included a complete description of the AAMC's programmatic activities. He indicated that the Association would devote considerable attention to the issue of providing training in ambulatory care settings and financing such training. This would be done through a new project to study the transition of medical education programs from the hospital inpatient services to the ambulatory care setting and through invitational symposia on adapting clinical education to new forms and sites of health care delivery.

Dr. Petersdorf reported that the 1986 entering class had a decline in medical school applicants of 4.8 percent from 1985 and that the drop-off in the applicant pool was more precipitous than the decrease in class size.

Pressure continued to mount from the animals rights movement to curtail or eliminate the use of animals in research, education, and testing and to strengthen existing animal care and use standards. The Association would continue to devote attention to this issue.

Dr. Petersdorf had been undertaking a series of visits to become acquainted with key legislators, and he indicated that the Association would continue its policy of asking that its interests be represented to members of Congress by the Association's constituency.

Report of the Council of Deans

Dr. Kay Clawson described the issues papers that had been presented at the Council of 226

Deans spring meeting. Discussions at that meeting had focused on the attractiveness of medicine as a profession, the reaffirmation of institutional responsibility for medical education, the role of the dean in the educational content of graduate medical education programs, and problems around the transition from medical school to residency. The Council of Deans had considered the issue of National Board of Medical Examiners score reporting and found that opinion was divided on whether or not numerical scores should be reported or a pass/fail system used. The Council had endorsed increased educational efforts to improve the use of the examination as a tool for educational evaluation.

Report of the Council of Academic Societies

Dr. David Cohen reported that the Council's spring meeting had been devoted to discussions related to the reports of the AAMC Committee on Federal Research Policy and Committee on Faculty Practice. The number of CAS societies had increased to 85, and the Council had affirmed that the only restriction that should apply to membership was that the society should have a substantial representation of the academic faculty. The Council had changed the criteria for Board membership to provide greater flexibility. The CAS had a consensus against pass/fail reporting of scores on the National Board of Medical Examiners examinations.

Report of the Council of Teaching Hospitals

Mr. Thomas Smith referred the Assembly to a publication on COTH activities which had been prepared for the Annual Meeting. The association staff would be working on a new project to study the effect of policy changes on different groups of hospitals. The AAMC and other data sources would be used to develop a data base to examine policies' differential impact on differing types of hospitals.

Report of the Secretary-Treasurer

Mr. Smith referred the Assembly members to the published agenda, which included the report of the treasurer and the balance sheet and operating statement for the Association's 1986 fiscal year. The report from the outside auditors was unqualified.

ACTION: On motion, seconded, and carried, the Assembly approved the report of the Secretary-Treasurer.

Report of the Organization of Student Representatives

Ms. Vicki Darrow reported that a recent issue of the OSR Report had been published on medical liability. The OSR had conducted a joint survey with the Association of Teachers of Preventive Medicine to discuss and describe preventive medicine parts of the curriculum. A consortium of student organizations, including the OSR, had taken collaborative action to support student financial aid and to express their opinion that all residency programs should be in the National Resident Matching Program. The OSR believes that the National Board of Medical Examiners test should be used for licensure and not for curricular evaluation and thus supports a pass/ fail reporting for this examination. The OSR Network had been developed to provide an opportunity for students to exchange ideas and information on innovative programs at their medical schools. There is a particular interest in the OSR in looking for innovative curriculum ideas to implement the GPEP report. The OSR favors incorporating house staff into the AAMC.

Election of New Members

ACTION: On motion, seconded, and carried, the Assembly by unanimous ballot elected the following organizations, institutions, and individuals to the indicated class of membership:

Institutional Member: Mercer University School of Medicine.

Academic Society Members: Ambulatory Pediatric Association; American Association of Pathologists; Association for Surgical Education.

Teaching Hospital Members: Greater Baltimore Medical Center, Baltimore, Maryland; Holy Cross Hospital, Silver Spring, Maryland; Humana Hospital-University, Louisville, Kentucky; The Queen's Medical Center, Honolulu,

Hawaii; Toronto General Hospital, Toronto, Ontario, Canada; UCLA Neuropsychiatric Hospital, Los Angeles, California; VA Medical Center, Salem, Virginia.

Corresponding Members: California Medical Center, Los Angeles, California; Newton-Wellesley Hospital, Newton, Massachusetts; St. Vincent's Health Center, Erie, Pennsylvania.

Distinguished Service Member: Sherman M. Mellinkoff.

Emeritus Members: Richard J. Cross, Thomas D. Dublin, James R. Gay.

Indivdiual Members: List attached to archive minutes.

Report of the Resolutions Committee

There were no resolutions reported to the Resolutions Committee for timely consideration and referral to the Assembly.

Report of the Nominating Committee

Dr. John Chapman, chairman of the Nominating Committee, presented the report of that committee. The committee is charged by the bylaws with reporting to the Assembly one nominee for each officer and member of the Executive Council to be elected. The following slate of nominees was presented: AAMC Chairman-Elect: John Colloton; Executive Council, COD representatives: Walter Leavell, John Naughton, and Hibbard Williams; Executive Council, COTH representative: Gary Gambuti; Executive Council, Distinguished Service Member: Edward Brandt, Jr.

ACTION: On motion, seconded, and carried, the Assembly approved the report of the Nomi-

nating Committee and elected the individuals listed above to the offices indicated.

Resolution of Appreciation

ACTION: On motion, seconded, and carried, the Assembly adopted the following resolution of appreciation:

WHEREAS, Dr. Virginia Weldon has served as chairman of the Association of American Medical Colleges for the last year, providing the full measure of the considerable talent and ability for which she is so well known, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Weldon has led the Association at a critical point in its transition to new leadership and evaluation of its structure and programs, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Weldon has brought to the Association the same commitment to excellence in medical education, support for our research enterprise, and concern for the quality of patient care that has characterized her career at Washington University, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Weldon's thoughtful leadership and insightful contributions to the Association's deliberations have led to new understanding of the Association within the university community,

BE IT RESOLVED, that this Assembly extend its warm appreciation and deep gratitude and affection to Dr. Weldon for the excellent leadership and special grace which she brought to the Association during her tenure as our Chairman.

Adjournment

The Assembly adjourned at 8:56 a.m.

Annual Report

1985-86

NOTE: The President's Message appeared in the January 1987 issue of the Journal of Medical Education as an editorial.

Executive Council, 1985–86

Virginia V. Weldon, Chairman*
Edward J. Stemmler, Chairman-Elect*
Richard Janeway, Immediate Past Chairman*

John A. D. Coomer Breeident##

John A. D. Cooper, President*†
Robert G. Petersdorf, President*

COUNCIL OF ACADEMIC SOCIETIES

David H. Cohen* William F. Ganong Frank G. Moody Virginia V. Weldon

DISTINGUISHED SERVICE MEMBER

Charles C. Sprague

COUNCIL OF DEANS Arnold L. Brown William Butler D. Kay Clawson*
Robert Daniels
William B. Deal
Louis J. Kettel
Richard H. Moy
John Naughton
Richard S. Ross

COUNCIL OF TEACHING HOSPITALS

J. Robert Buchanan Spencer Foreman Sheldon S. King C. Thomas Smith*

ORGANIZATION OF STUDENT

REPRESENTATIVES Vicki Darrow Richard Peters

† Retired September 2, 1986.

Administrative Boards of the Councils, 1985-86

COUNCIL OF ACADEMIC SOCIETIES David H. Cohen, Chairman Frank G. Moody, Chairman-Elect Joe D. Coulter

William F. Ganong
Gary W. Hunninghake

Ernst R. Jaffe

A. Everette James, Jr.

Gordon I. Kaye Douglas E. Kelly Jack L. Kostyo Virginia V. Weldon

Frank M. Yatsu

COUNCIL OF DEANS

D. Kay Clawson, Chairman Louis J. Kettel, Chairman-Elect

Arnold L. Brown William Butler Robert S. Daniels William B. Deal Jack W. Eckstein Fairfield Goodale* Walter F. Leavell Richard H. Moy John Naughton Richard S. Ross

* Retired June 1986.

COUNCIL OF TEACHING HOSPITALS
C. Thomas Smith, Chairman
Spencer Foreman, Chairman-Elect

Robert J. Baker
J. Robert Buchanan
Gordon M. Derzon
Gary Gambuti
John E. Ives
Sheldon S. King
Larry L. Mathis
James J. Mongan
Eric B. Munson
Charles M. O'Brien.

Charles M. O'Brien, Jr. Raymond G. Schultze Barbara A. Small

ORGANIZATION OF STUDENT

REPRESENTATIVES

Richard Peters, Chairperson Vicki Darrow, Chairperson-Elect

John DeJong
Kimberly Dunn
Joann Elmore
Joanne Fruth
Vietta Johnson
Kirk Murphy
Ricardo Sanchez
Dan Schlager
James Stout

Robert Welch

^{*} Member of Executive Committee.

The Councils

Executive Council

The Association's Executive Council meets quarterly to consider policy matters relating to medical education, biomedical and behavioral research, and the delivery of medical care. Issues are referred by member institutions and organizations and from the constituent councils. Policy matters considered by the Executive Council are first reviewed by the Administrative Boards of the Council of Deans, Council of Academic Societies, Council of Teaching Hospitals, and the Organization of Student Representatives, the constituent components of the AAMC's governance structure.

Newly elected officers and the senior staff of the Association attended the traditional December retreat to consider policy issues and set priorities for the Association in the coming year. Discussion at the retreat focused on a number of issues related to undergraduate medical education including changes in the size and composition of the applicant pool, clinical education, and appropriate AAMC follow-up activities to its report on the General Professional Education of the Physician. In the area of graduate medical education, the retreat participants discussed financing, quality of the educational program, the transition from medical school to residency, and institutional responsibility for graduate medical education. Among the other topics considered were institutional policies on dealing with students with acquired immune deficiency syndrome, the practice of medicine by medical school faculty, the payment of indirect costs of research, pending legislation to authorize a new construction program for research facilities, and the appropriate role of the Liaison Committee on Medical Education in the review of the educational programs of foreign medical schools.

Many of the issues reviewed and debated by the Executive Council during the past year reflected the Association's traditional priorities in support of research and research training, student financial assistance, and adequate reimbursement for medical care in teaching hospitals.

A research issue in which Association members have an important interest concerns the payment of the indirect costs of conducting research. A number of congressional and administration proposals have been brought forward which would limit the reimbursement of such costs. The Association has sought to reconcile the differences among other organizations in this area, and the Executive Council endorsed the Associations's role as a mediator, expressing its belief that any change in the method of indirect cost reimbursement should be made gradually and in consultation with universities and their faculties.

Federally-supported student financial assistance continued to suffer from budgetary constraints, and the Executive Council has been concerned about the availability of funds for financing students' medical education. In response to these concerns, the Executive Council approved the establishment of MED-LOANS, a new Association program to offer financial aid to medical students. In addition to providing access to federal programs such as Guaranteed Student Loans, Health Education Assistance Loans, and Auxiliary Loans to Assist Students, MEDLOANS offers a new private Alternative Loan Program at market rates, tailored to the particular needs of medical students.

Much of the Executive Council's attention in the patient services and medical care area was focused on Medicare reimbursement policies. The Executive Council strenuously opposed any freeze in Medicare payments to hospitals and also opposed any extension in the Medicare freeze on payments to physicians for professional services. The Council recommended that the prospective payment system be amended so that payments are based on a DRG-specific, blended rate of hospital-specific and federal component prices. The Association also supported establishing an adjustment to recognize the generally higher costs incurred by hospitals serving a disproportionate number of indigent Medicare patients.

The support of residency training under the Medicare program was an especially important issue in the past year. The Association recommended retaining explicit Medicare funding of graduate medical education for at least the number of years required to attain initial board eligibility in various specialties (to a maximum of five years) plus one additional clinical year for advanced specialty and subspecialty positions in hospitals in which the positions were supported by Medicare in 1984–85. The Association also endorsed eliminating Medicare funding for residents who are not graduates of accredited medical or osteopathic schools located in the United States or Canada. The Association proposed a period of phase-in for implementing these recommended changes.

The Association also supported a recomputation in the resident-to-bed adjustment and a requirement that the Health Care Financing Administration update each hospital's published case mix index using data from the first year of prospective payment.

The Executive Council discussed a possible legislative move to incorporate the payments for hospital-based physicians such as radiologists, anesthesiologists, and pathologists, into the DRG hospital reimbursement program. It was concluded that the proposal was generally undesirable and that the AAMC should oppose it because of its potential harmful impact on teaching hospitals and clinical faculty relationships.

Strong efforts were underway in a number of jurisdictions to enact new legislation dealing with professional liability insurance. The Executive Council endorsed the concept of tort reform, citing the special needs of academic medical centers which use part-time faculty

and the mobility of faculty members. The need for better discipline within the profession was also recognized.

There was a discussion of a report from the congressionally-mandated Task Force on Organ Transplantation which recommended that the diffusion of transplantation technology be regulated. Although the Executive Council supported the development of criteria to delineate quality standards for the provision of transplant services, it was believed that such criteria should be developed by professional societies and not by the federal government. The only limitations that should be placed on the performance of transplants should be related to the institution's ability to provide quality service and not to arbitrary political or geographic factors.

Tax reform legislation was reviewed by the Executive Council at several meetings. The AAMC supported the continued access of universities and hospitals to tax-exempt bond financing; although the Association was willing to accept some new restrictions on such financing, it opposed a proposed state-by-state cap on the annual volume of issuances and a cap on the total amount of outstanding taxexempt bonds available to each university. The Executive Council also opposed provisions that would eliminate scholarships and fellowships from taxable income and would impose taxes on prizes and awards. The Association also communicated with its members on the impact of proposed changes relating to pensions, IRAs and the tax-exempt status of TIAA-CREF.

The Executive Council was asked to consider whether irregularities in the admissions process identified by AAMC staff should be reported to non-member institutions in other health disciplines and to licensing boards. The Council concluded that the AAMC would provide copies of completed irregularities reports to non-member health professions schools when there was reason to believe the subject was applying to the school and that reports would be provided to licensure bodies in response to requests regarding particular individuals.

At the request of the Organization of Stu-

dent Representatives the Executive Council considered issues relating to the reporting of scores from the National Board of Medical Examiners. The Executive Council believes that the NBME should report scores to students and medical schools on a pass/fail basis only. Implementation of this recommendation will be discussed at the 1986 Annual Meeting.

The Executive Council makes extensive use of committees of AAMC constituents to guide its deliberations on key policy matters. During the past year the Council acted on reports from a number of such committees.

A steering committee on a project to evaluate medical information science in medical education was chaired by Jack Myers, university professor at the University of Pittsburgh. The committee report, which was approved in January, concluded that medical informatics is basic to the understanding and practice of modern medicine and that the field should be integrated throughout the medical education program. The report, which included a state-of-the-art review, was recommended for wide distribution.

J. Robert Buchanan, general director of the Massachusetts General Hospital, chaired an Association Committee on Financing Graduate Medical Education. The Executive Council endorsed the committee's recommendation that patient care revenues continue to be the principal source of support for graduate medical education, but that some limitations be established on training support. It was recognized that payment for residents in ambulatory teaching settings continued to be a problem needing attention by the AAMC.

The AAMC's Committee on Federal Research Policy has been charged with conducting a broad overview of policy issues related to the federal role in the conduct and support of biomedical research. The committee examined Association policy relating to the goals of the federal research effort, research manpower and training, research infrastructure, research awards system, federal funding for research, and formulation of federal research policy. The committee was chaired by Edward N. Brandt, chancellor of the University of Maryland.

Sherman Mellinkoff, dean of the UCLA School of Medicine, chaired a committee to review the Medical College Admission Test. its use by medical schools in their selection process, the effects of this use on undergraduates and undergraduate institutions, and the Association's stewardship of the examination. The committee concluded that the MCAT is useful in helping establish minimum academic qualifications, and that the AAMC should continue its efforts to improve the understanding by undergraduate advisors and medical school faculties and admissions committees of the development of specifications and the preparation of test questions. The Committee also concluded that the Association had been reasonable in its stewardship of the program and not overly dependent on its income.

The Executive Council approved the establishment of a new ad hoc Committee on Strategies for Promoting Academic Medical Centers, which will be a joint activity with the Association of Academic Health Centers. This new committee is chaired by D. Gayle McNutt, director of communications at the Baylor College of Medicine.

Responding to concern from several quarters, including the Council of Deans and the Group on Student Affairs, the Executive Council has appointed a Committee on Graduate Medical Education and the Transition from Medical School to Residency, chaired by Spencer Foreman, president, Montefiore Medical Center. A preliminary report recommended that each institution develop common policies and procedures for all its graduate medical education programs, that institutional compliance with the ACGME's general requirements be enforced, that limitations be placed on electives students can take at other medical schools, that the evaluations presented in the dean's letter be improved, that the NRMP be used for selection of all residency positions, and that a new timetable be established for the NRMP and the release of school evaluations. This discussion draft will be the subject of a special general session at the 1986 AAMC Annual Meeting.

The Association's Finance Committee, chaired by Mitchell Rabkin, president of Beth

Israel Hospital, began a long-term review of the Association's financial situation, including projections for income and expenditures in future years, and the Association's policies for management of its reserves.

In its role as a parent organization, the Executive Council has a responsibility for overseeing the activities and policy actions of a number of other organizations. A particularly critical issue was raised this year with respect to the participation of the Liaison Committee on Medical Education in the Accreditation of foreign medical schools. The Executive Council believed that medical school accreditation as developed by the LCME was a uniquely American system for evaluating the quality of a medical education program in which peers voluntarily submit to a critical review by their colleagues. Even if the LCME had the resources to accredit the more than 750 foreign medical schools with graduates sitting for the ECFMG exam, the Council felt that the LCME's system of accreditation would not be transferable to other localities with different traditions and patterns for education, research, and the delivery of care. The Council also noted that the LCME had no particular expertise to develop standards which might be appropriately used to evaluate foreign schools. A second concern related to the enormous liability involved in the accreditation of hundreds of foreign medical schools and the inability for adequate legal protection to be assured, even through government indemnification. Instead of supporting an LCME role in the accreditation of foreign medical schools the Executive Council committed the Association to working with other concerned organizations to establish criteria for the evaluation of graduates of foreign medical schools and reaffirmed AAMC support for the development of a satisfactory examination of clinical competence for such graduates as a condition of eligibility for entry into accredited residency programs.

The Executive Council was asked to consider whether the Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education should be separately incorporated as a means of protecting parent organizations for legal liability. The Council felt that the guiding principle should

be that if the activity was germane to the Association's mission, the AAMC should assume the attendant risks. It was suggested that the Association review its involvement in continuing medical education accreditation and other activities in relation to the Association's overall goals.

Two amendments to the general requirements section of the Essentials of Accredited Residencies of the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education were brought to the Executive Council for action. The Council approved an amendment that would call for residency programs to foster understanding of medical ethics and provide instruction in the socioeconomics of health care and the importance of cost-effective medical practice. There was spirited debate about a proposed amendment that would add to the accreditation standards a stipulation that adequate financial support for residents' stipends is an essential component of residency programs. Consideration of this issue included discussion of whether stipend support was essential for a program to be educationally sound or whether it was more related to issues of fairness and equity, and whether such a standard was appropriate for an accreditation document of this nature. The Executive Council supported a new amendment that states that "financial support of residents is necessary to assure that residents are able to fulfill the responsibilities of their educational programs."

The Executive Council and the Executive Committee are responsible for decisions relating to AAMC participation in court cases. The Association appears with a number of other scientific and educational organizations and scores of Nobel laureates on an *amicus* brief in *Edwards v. Aguillard*, a case related to a Louisiana statute on the teaching of evolution and creation-science. The brief argues that the science education of our school children should accurately portray the current state of substantive scientific knowledge and the premises and processes of science.

The AAMC had joined the American Hospital Association, the American Medical Association, and a number of other medical organizations challenging the government's "Baby Doe" regulations relating to the treat-

ment of profoundly handicapped infants. In June the Supreme Court affirmed an Appeals Court decision invalidating the regulations which had required that the federal government be granted access to the medical records of infants for whom the parents had chosen not to seek treatment.

The Association and other related organizations had also filed an amicus brief with the Supreme Court on the constitutionality of state laws putting requirements on physicians with respect to abortions. The arguments in favor of the traditional physician-patient relationship prevailed.

The Association had also been an amicus in the University of Michigan's successful petitioning that there were not instances in which the courts might appropriately engage in a review of the actual merits of academic decisions as opposed to the process by which they are made. The AAMC had also joined other educational associations in Connolly v. Burt, which involved an attempt by one physician to sue in the state to which a letter of evaluation was sent rather than in the state where the evaluating physician resided.

In April the Association united with 67 other scientific and academic organizations in filing an amicus brief in a case before the U.S. Court of Appeals to decide whether legal standing should be granted to animal rights advocates, allowing them to sue for custody of laboratory animals under state anti-cruelty statutes. The brief pointed out the benefits of animal research, argued that animal rights advocates or other private parties have no standing under either federal or state law to bring suit on behalf of laboratory animals, and emphasized the serious adverse consequences for both science and the judicial system that would result from a decision supporting the animal rights groups. The appellate court ruled against granting legal standing to these groups.

The United States District Court had found Viken Mikaelian and Multiprep in civil contempt of the court's injunctive order with respect to the AAMC's suit on copyright infringement on the MCAT. The AAMC was awarded \$200,000 plus attorney's fees.

During the past year the Executive Council voted special recognition awards to Carolyne

Davis, former administrator of the Health Care Financing Administration, Edward N. Brandt, former Assistant Secretary for Health, J. Alexander McMahon, retiring president of the American Hospital Association, and James H. Sammons, executive vice president of the American Medical Association.

The Executive Council continued to oversee the activities of the Group on Business Affairs, the Group on Institutional Planning, the Group on Medical Education, the Group on Public Affairs, and the Group on Student Affairs.

The Executive Council, along with the Secretary-Treasurer, the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, and the Audit Committee exercised careful scrutiny over the Association's fiscal affairs, and approved a small expansion in the general funds budget for fiscal vear 1987.

The Executive Committee convened prior to each Executive Council meeting and conducted business by conference call as necessary. During the year the Executive Committee met with Health and Human Services Secretary Otis Bowen.

Council of Deans

Two major meetings dominated the Council of Deans' activities in 1985-1986. The Association's annual meeting in Washington, D.C. featured a program session for deans and a social event. The Council's spring meeting was held in Key Largo, Florida on April 2-5, 1986. The COD Administrative Board meets quarterly to review Executive Council agenda items of significant interest to the deans and to carry on the business of the COD. More specific concerns are reviewed by sections of the deans brought together by common interest.

The Council's annual meeting program session discussed the proposed comprehensive examination of the National Board of Medical Examiners and problems in the transition between medical school and residency education. A panel moderated by L. Thompson Bowles, dean for academic affairs, George Washington University Medical Center, discussed the first topic. The panel featured Robert Volle, associate dean for basic sciences and

research, University of Kentucky College of Medicine and chairman of the NBME committee developing the new examination; David Citron, president of the Federation of State Medical Boards; Richard Peters, chairman-elect of the Organization of Student Representatives; and Richard H. Moy, dean, Southern Illinois University School of Medicine. Arnold L. Brown, dean, University of Wisconsin Medical School, moderated a panel on transition problems. It featured a presentation by Norma E. Wagoner, chairperson of the Group on Student Affairs and associate dean for student affairs and educational resources at the University of Cincinnati College of Medicine. Co-authors of Dr. Wagoner's paper who provided commentary were Jack C. Gardner, associate dean for student affairs, UMDNJ-Rutgers Medical School; John H. Levine, assistant dean for curriculum, Medical University of South Carolina; and Paula L. Stillman, associate dean for curriculum at the University of Massachusetts Medical School. The annual business meeting featured an inspiring presentation by John A.D. Cooper, AAMC president, on the need to avoid divisions among Association members. The deans also heard updates on institutional policies on AIDS, the AAMC's medical student alternative loan program, the MCAT pilot project, investigations of the VA inspector general regarding conflict of interest, and reports from Association committees.

A new format at the Council of Deans spring meeting facilitated maximum interaction and participation of the deans on issues of importance. Discussion groups considered four topics: the attractiveness of medicine as a profession, institutional responsibility for medical student education, institutional responsibility for graduate medical education, and problems in the transition between medical school and residency. The meeting culminated with the approval of various recommendations emerging from the discussion sessions.

On the first topic, the deans recommended that the introductory marks of Spencer Foreman, president, Montefiore Medical Center, be used as a preamble to a strategy paper and

action plan which place emphasis on pride in the profession and restraint from an attitude of panic. They also recommended the analysis of applicant pool data to seek trends within or among categories of schools. Individual school applicant pool data analysis and trends should be made available on a confidential basis, with special analyses of underrepresented groups. The Council affirmed that a strategy should be developed which assures that pre-medical advice through the official advisor system is accurate and based on current information and that demographically stratified opinion surveys should be conducted to characterize the present attitudes of high school and college students towards medicine. The deans further recommended the revision of the medical school admissions requirement handbook to emphasize opportunities in medicine. The deans encouraged all medical schools to analyze individual applicant pool data for negative factors to be corrected and positive factors to be emphasized. Finally, they stated that the AAMC and its members should emphasize the historic role of medicine as a socially responsible profession.

The deans reaffirmed their position as key to the implementation of institutional responsibility for medical student education. They viewed the call for more self-directed problembased learning in the medical curriculum as appropriate and most productive in interdisciplinary courses. They called for a rotation of the primary responsibility for teaching so that in any year fewer faculty were involved with students to promote closer student-faculty interactions. Also, acknowledging that the examination drives the system, the deans called for more faculty examinations as opposed to discipline examinations, and ones that would involve problem-solving skills, technical skills relating to patients and other professionals, and the ability to handle stress. The deans suggested more shared accountability across departmental lines, especially clinical and basic sciences. Finally, they requested that the AAMC staff undertake an effort to identify valid criteria for measuring excellence in teaching.

The deans called for medical schools which

had not already done so to assume a larger

share of the responsibility for the governance of graduate medical education programs, and,

applicants.

as a corollary, that the AAMC role in graduate medical education be expanded. Medical schools and their teaching hospitals should form a common organization to govern each school's graduate medical education programs and deans and hospital directors should be directly involved in every residency program review. The deans made a number of recommendations addressed to the problems in the transition between medical school and residency education. To ensure the continuity and quality of medical education in the third and fourth years, they resolved that dean's letters and transcripts should not be sent before October 1, that core clerkships should occur only in the student's own institution, that fourth year experiences should be carefully evaluated, and that every effort should be made to give up independent match systems and informal actions about residency selections. The deans further resolved that the AAMC advocate to the Liaison Committee on Medical Education the evaluation of these policies and practices as part of the accreditation process for all medical colleges, that the AAMC take the initiative in establishing an AMCAS-like system for residency application and selection, and that the NRMP manage the match for all

The Southern and Midwest deans, deans of community-based medical schools, and deans of private freestanding schools held various meetings throughout the year to discuss issues of specific interest to their members.

Council of Academic Societies

The Council of Academic Societies represents academic and scientific societies from all basic and clinical disciplines. In 1985 three societies joined the Council, bringing the total membership to 82. The CAS convened two major meetings during 1985–86.

The annual meeting in October 1985 featured presentations on two issues of interest for medical faculty. The first was the future role of physician scientists in medical research. Gordon N. Gill, professor of medicine at the

University of California, San Diego, stressed the importance of medical schools providing the research centers and communication pathways within which scientific discovery will flourish. He emphasized the need for an environment that allows physician scientists to pursue research opportunities freely, and warned that bureaucratizing research will discourage "the serendipity of science."

John W. Littlefield, professor and chairman of physiology at Johns Hopkins University, analyzed the changing role of the M.D. in scientific research. He described the importance of giving students a realistic view of medical research careers and ways to prepare early for such careers. He expressed concern that the growing number of M.D./Ph.D.s in research sends a message to medical students that a Ph.D. is necessary to do biomedical and behavioral investigation. Noting the increasing difficulty in conducting medical research on a part-time basis, Dr. Littlefield stressed that physician scientists can make important contributions in areas tailored to their strengths or as part of a team effort.

The second issue discussed by the Council was the recent challenges to and pressures on the peer review system. Ruth Kirschstein, director of the National Institute of General Medical Sciences, described the current grant award process and characterized some of the pressures on the peer review system. She said that the most significant problem is the lack of adequate funds, particularly in view of the increasing number of high quality research proposals submitted. She suggested that the dramatically lowered award rates have contributed to a loss of confidence in peer review on the part of the scientists. In addition, academic institutions that obtain funding for "big-ticket" buildings directly from Congress, thereby circumventing the peer review process, weaken the system. She urged scientists to join in reaffirming the importance of peer review as the foundation of biomedical research because it "provides the best advice about the scientific merit of competing grants."

Edward N. Brandt, chancellor of the University of Maryland at Baltimore, described

the current congressional and public concerns related to peer review and the ways in which scientific decisions are restricted by legislative or administrative actions. He reviewed some alternatives to the present dual-review system for grant awards, and concluded that peer review is "the best mechanism for the determination of scientific quality."

An extensive debate centered on the use of hospital patient care funds to support graduate medical education highlighted the business portion of the meeting. The Council reviewed the ongoing deliberations of the AAMC ad hoc Committee on Financing Graduate Medical Education. Concern focused on the possibility that pending Medicare legislation would severely limit or eliminate support for residents. The Council strongly urged the Committee to advocate the use of patient care revenues to support residency training of sufficient length to ensure that specialists in various disciplines are fully trained and to resist efforts to control the number of specialists trained through reductions in the federal funding for graduate medical education.

The CAS also heard a report on the investigation by the Inspector General of the Veterans Administration into possible conflict of interest for VA employees who accept any funds from pharmaceutical companies. The Council expressed concern over the confusions inherent in dual professional standards where some forms of consulting are encouraged in university academic roles and discouraged under a much more stringent conflict of interest interpretation for those with any VA affiliation.

The Council considered the AAMC commentary on the GPEP report. This commentary, which was developed by a joint CASCOD working group, addresses the major concerns and criticisms that have been raised with regard to the GPEP report and provides specific guidance on the implementation of the recommendations of the GPEP panel in selected areas. The CAS also reviewed some of the recent trends in medical school applications and endorsed the report of the AAMC-AAU Committee of the Management and Governance of Institutional Animal Resources.

The CAS spring meeting, which was held in Washington, D.C. March 26-27, included two panel discussions. The first panel, which was moderated by Edward J. Stemmler, dean of the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, addressed the future of faculty practice from the perspectives of medical school dean, hospital administrator, and faculty. This discussion focused on the effects of the changing practice environment in academic medical centers on the traditional education, research, and patient care missions. Among the issues raised were the increasing dependence of institutions upon practice income, concern over faculty appointments and tenure decisions. access of voluntary faculty to referral patterns and diagnostic specialty units, and the impact of cost-containment efforts on the care of the medically underserved.

The second panel, which was moderated by CAS Chairman David Cohen, SUNY-Stony Brook, reviewed the draft report of the AAMC ad hoc Committee on Federal Research Policy. Various CAS members of the committee reviewed the report's recommendations regarding the scale and scope of the federal investment in biomedical and behavioral research, the priorities of the federal biomedical research effort, the scientific review of research proposals, renovation or replacement of research facilities, and federal biomedical research training programs. The panel also discussed the committee suggestions to enhance the input from the scientific community into the formulation of biomedical research policy by the executive and legislative branches of the federal government.

Other items on the spring meeting agenda included the final draft of the AAMC Committee on Financing Graduate Medical Education, the alternate fiscal 1987 budget for NIH and ADAMHA developed by the Ad Hoc Group on Medical Research Funding, faculty concerns related to the effect of the current tax reform legislation on retirement annuity plans, and an update on the administration proposals related to the reimbursement of indirect costs for federally sponsored biomedical research.

The CAS Administrative Board conducts its business at quarterly meetings held prior to

Executive Council sessions. In January, the Board discussed various issues related to the representation of individual academic societies within the Council and on the Administrative Board.

The Association's CAS Legislative Services Program continued to assist societies desiring special legislative tracking and public policy guidance. Five societies participated in the program in 1985–86: the American Academy of Neurology, the American Neurological Association, the Association of University Professors of Neurology, the Child Neurology Society, and the American Federation for Clinical Research.

Council of Teaching Hospitals

The Council of Teaching Hospitals held two general membership meetings in 1985-86. At the COTH general session held during the 1985 AAMC Annual Meeting, Richard M. Knapp and James D. Bentley, director and associate director of the Department of Teaching Hospitals, shared the platform with Sheila P. Burke, deputy chief of staff, Office of the Senate Majority Leader. Drs. Knapp and Bentley focused on the future in "Looking Ahead at Academic Medical Centers," while Ms. Burke dealt with the present dilemmas of "Health Policy Directions in an Era of Budget Constraints." Dr. Bentley postulated that the academic medical center, when viewed as a social system faced with excess physician supply and hospital bed capacity, can manage change by emphasizing business practice and insurance functions, or by establishing disciplined and functionally interrelated clinical practices. In considering the historical development of the hospital and its relationship to physicians and insurers, present-day changes in hospital relationships, and implications for teaching hospitals in the years ahead, Dr. Bentley called for careful assessment of the strengths of the teaching hospital as the underpinning for successful adaptation.

Dr. Knapp considered the pace of change and the resulting escalation of events in the health care environment, calling on hospital CEOs to take time for reflection. Remarking on the past use of cross-subsidization to support the teaching hospital's multiple missions, he observed that the current climate appears to call for an impossible alliance between cooperation and competition, especially in graduate medical education. While allowing for flexibility and changes in the field of health care delivery, Dr. Knapp cautioned that members not lose respect for the roots of the teaching hospital—a triumvirate of education, research, and patient care.

Ms. Burke provided a retrospective view of health policy decisions, presenting the deliberations of Congress and the administration by focusing on institutional providers of care, patients, and cost-sharing, and the individual physician. She warned that the overriding impetus for future federal decisions in the health care arena will continue to be the control of the deficit. Since the budget process lacks specificity, authorization committees must provide substantive amendments to budget-related legislation to allow practical and equitable implementation. She encouraged AAMC members to help Congress understand the complexity of the health care delivery system for knowledgeable decision-making.

The ninth annual spring meeting of the Council of Teaching Hospitals was held in Philadelphia, May 7-9, 1986, with over two hundred hospital executives attending. The meeting began with an evening in honor of John A.D. Cooper, including the noted political humorist Mark Russell. Presentations at the meeting focused on the impact of recent changes in health care reimbursement and on developments in medical technology, and their implications for the future. Stuart Altman, dean and professor of national health policy at the Heller Graduate School of Brandeis University and Chairman of the Prospective Payment Assessment Commission, opened the first session with an overview of the Commission's recent activities and recommendations. Emphasizing that ProPAC's two major responsibilities are to advise the executive branch and Congress on the update factor, and to help them to take advantage of stated technologies. Altman ProPAC's likely impact is on structural changes within the DRG system. Paul Gertman, vice chairman of CAREMARK, Inc.,

discussed developments in health care research, problems with DRG assignment, and adjustment for differences in severity of illness. Myles Lash, director of health care for Arthur Young and Co., discussed predicted trends in teaching hospitals and new issues and challenges. Al Zamberlan, director of the Great Lakes Region of the Veterans Administration, discussed the VA's experiences in resource allocation using DRGs. The session ended with a discussion by Richard Berman, former executive vice president of New York University Medical Center, of an approach to identifying the effects of key policy changes on different groups of teaching hospitals.

John S. Najarian, regents' professor and chairman of surgery, University of Minnesota Medical School, opened the second session with a description of recent advances in transplantation technology and related the ethical and economic issues. William Nolen, chairman of the department of surgery, Litchfield Clinic, also discussed the impact of new technology and changes in the health care delivery system on the practice of "small-town" medicine. R. Jack Powell, executive director of the Paralyzed Veterans of America, raised ethical issues about access for seriously disabled patients to advanced technology and medical care in an era of limited health resources.

The concluding session began as Robert Blendon, senior vice president of the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, reviewed the implications of recent changes in the health care marketplace, and the need for increased awareness of the political climate in relation to health care legislation. The meeting ended with a panel chaired by Jack Shelton, manager of the employee insurance department, Ford Motor Company, who discussed the role of industry in managing health care for employees. David Chinsky, senior health economist for Ford, described the process by which the company identified abnormal medical care costs and initiated discussions with participating hospitals. Dennis Becker, vice president for planning and development at MEDSTAT Systems, Inc., concluded by speculating on future actions in the area of health care cost containment by employers.

During 1985–1986, the COTH Administrative Board met four times to conduct business and to discuss issues of importance and interest to COTH member institutions. Among the issues addressed by the Board were: Medicare payment of capital costs; Medicare payment for services provided to patients by radiologists, anesthesiologists, pathologists, and emergency room physicians; professional liability insurance legislation; tax reform; changes in graduate medical education training requirements; the recommendations of the National Task Force on Organ Transplantation; the AAMC role in the promotion of academic medical centers to the public; trends in medical school applicants; and the accreditation of foreign medical schools by the LCME.

The COTH Board joined the other AAMC Councils in a dinner in January honoring former HCFA Administrator Carolyne Davis. The Board held an evening session in April to exchange views with Ed Mihalski, Deputy Chief of Staff for Health Policy of the Senate Finance Committee, and in September to meet with William Roper, Administrator, Health Care Financing Administration.

Organization of Student Representatives

As during the previous year, 122 medical schools designated a student representative to the AAMC. Approximately 165 students, representing 96 of these schools, attended the 1985 annual meeting. The first day included regional and business meetings and a student leadership workshop. The plenary program, "From Apathy to Panic and Beyond: Actions to Shape a Better Medical Education," featured Kenneth Ludmerer, assistant professor of medicine, Washington University School of Medicine; Arnold Relman, editor of *The New* England Journal of Medicine, and Richard Moy, dean, Southern Illinois University School of Medicine. Dr. Ludmerer offered historical insights on the difficulties of accomplishing educational reform and urged students to pursue their ideals rather than becoming "rule of thumb" practitioners. Dr. Relman addressed the ethical contract that physicians

educators must better address changes in the practice environment so that students acquire the skills necessary to fulfill this contract. Dr. Moy concluded the program with suggestions to students about goals that they can influence. Examples were substitution of computer-storage for memory-storage and use of educational objectives and evaluation methods which are more comprehensive than those provided by the National Board of Medical Examiners. On Saturday afternoon there were workshops on patient interviewing as a preclinical student, computer-based medical education, curricular integration of health care cost awareness and ethics, promoting teamwork between medical students and nurses, preventive medicine, legislative affairs, and financing graduate medical education. Students also heard and questioned Patch Adams, founder of the Gesundheit Institute, on retaining humanistic ideals in medicine and building joyful relationships with patients. The students met in small groups to discuss "Critical Issues in Medical Education," a paper prepared by the OSR Administrative Board.

have with society and argued that medical

OSR offered two programs on Monday. "Aid for the Impaired Medical Student: A Program That's Working at the University of Tennessee" featured Hershel P. Wall, associate dean for admissions and students, University of Tennessee College of Medicine, and James Stout, medical student at Bowman Gray School of Medicine. John Stone, poet and director of admissions, Emory University School of Medicine, spoke on "Literature and Medicine: the Patient as Art."

A new feature of the OSR annual meeting, responding to the AAMC's report on the General Professional Education of the Physician, was the OSR Network. Since programs in place at one school interest students at other schools, OSR members completed a page ask-

ing for "Information Wanted" and "Information to Share." Following the meeting, a collated summary was distributed, with entries on curriculum, student activities, student health, public health, financial, and evaluation.

In addition to considering Executive Council agenda items of direct concern to students and residents and nominating students and residents to serve on committees, the 1985-86 Administrative Board completed and approved its "Critical Issues in Medical Education" paper. Two other projects on which the Board worked were a proposal to convene a symposium on problem-based learning and a survey of OSR members in conjunction with the Association of Teachers of Preventive Medicine to identify innovative teaching activities in health promotion and disease prevention. Two OSR Board members developed papers for publication in the fall issue of OSR Report: "The Medical Liability Problem" and "Keeping the Doors Open to Medical Education." The first summarized the contributions of the medical and legal professions, the insurance industry, and the health care consumer to the malpractice coverage problem. The second focused on disturbing trends in the access of minority and low income students to the medical profession.

During the spring, OSR met regionally with the Group on Student Affairs. While each region offered unique programs, three featured Patch Adams' "Elixirs of Life" program. The Central and Southern regions continued to produce regional newsletters containing progress reports of student-initiated projects and GPEP-related news. To cut travel costs, the southern and northeast regions produced student housing directories; students at 12 and 14 schools, respectively, volunteered their apartments for visiting students interviewing for residencies or taking off-campus electives.

National Policy

The national policy issues with the greatest potential impact on academic medical centers seem recently to have changed in character. In the past, the AAMC's major focus of concern was on legislation and regulation of relatively narrow and sharply defined scope, related to the programs of federal agencies in which our institutions have traditionally participated. Quite suddenly, more general issues, such as deficit reduction and tax reform that affect AAMC interests along with those of many others, have begun to dominate the federal agenda. For such problems, there are a host of contending interests. Global decisions, purportedly for the common good, are reached through bargaining among legislators advocating particular interests and special needs. More and more frequently, candid congressional staff tell their AAMC counterparts that a legislative provision of concern to academic medicine is marginal to the central thrust of a bill and therefore will be accepted or rejected, not on its intrinsic merits, but on its value as a bargaining chip. Not uncommonly these days, legislative proposals that significantly affect AAMC institutions surface unexpectedly in the form of language insinuated anonymously and without prior announcement or public consideration into lengthy bills. The latter have been crafted mostly behind closed committee doors and consummated rapidly, after brief floor consideration, often in the late hours of the waning days of a legislative period.

The enactment in December 1985 of the Balanced Budget and Emergency Deficit Control Act, familiarly known as Gramm-Rudman-Hollings (GRH), has overshadowed all national policy issues since. With it, the prominence of deficit reduction has taken a quantum leap in the legislative arena. Members of Congress, threatened by the huge and growing annual budget deficits of the last 4-5 years

and frustrated by the stalemating of every reasoned and reasonable effort to modulate the phenomenon, suddenly and out of an apparent sense of exasperation adopted this radical proposal as a way to confront the problem.

GRH imposes target limits on the annual deficit, requiring that it be reduced in decrements of \$36 billion per year, beginning with the FY 1986 budget and continuing until the deficit is erased in FY 1991. Each year, the Congress must enact whatever spending and revenue-raising measures are necessary to reach the prescribed deficit level. Should the Congress fail—a determination arrived at by statutorily defined processes carried out by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and verified by the General Accounting Office (GAO)—a completely automatic sequestration process goes into effect and culminates in a presidential order to require expenditures to achieve the target deficit level. The required expenditure reduction must be levied against a relatively small fraction of the federal outlays, since many high cost entitlement programs, e.g. social security benefits and Medicare, are either totally or partially exempt; half of the reduction must be borne by national defense accounts, half by nondefense programs. The uniform, non-discriminating, automatic and across-the-board sanction of GRH is widely seen as a judgment by the Congress that political considerations made it impossible to enact conventional budgetary legislation to reduce the deficit directly.

On January 15, 1986, scarcely one month after GRH's enactment, the OMB and CBO issued their expenditure and revenue projections for FY 1986 to the Comptroller General, estimating a deficit of \$220.5 billion, \$48.6 billion over the legal maximum. However, a specific provision of the act limited sequestration for FY 1986 to \$11.7 billion. Accordingly,

the OMB-CBO report called for a uniform sequestration of 4.9 percent and 4.3 percent, respectively, from eligible defense and nondefense programs. The report was duly verified by the GAO and the president's sequestration order was published on March 1, effective on April 1. The brunt of the non-defense cuts fell on discretionary spending, including many programs and activities vital to Association members. Funding for the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the Alcohol, Drug Abuse Health Administration and Mental (ADAMHA) was reduced by \$236 million and \$15.7 million, respectively, and Veterans Administration (VA) medical care lowered by over \$117 million from the pre-sequestration FY 1986 appropriations.

The GRH law also contained a clause providing for expedited judicial review of its constitutionality. In December, 12 members of the House of Representatives filed suit to have the law declared unconstitutional. In February, a special three-judge panel upheld the plaintiffs' claim that the role of Comptroller General in determining budget cuts was an unconstitutional infringement of the separation of powers doctrine. In June, the Supreme Court upheld the lower court decision, ruling unconstitutional to grant "executive" branch budget control functions to the Comptroller General, an employee under the control of the legislature. This decision invalidated the spending reductions that took place under the March 1986 sequestration order. But the Congress voted by a wide margin in late July to reaffirm those spending reductions.

The Supreme Court ruling struck down only the provision of GRH that delegated to the Comptroller General the role of making the final specifications of the sequestration order to be issued by the president. However, anticipating the possibility of a successful court challenge of this aspect of the proposal, the drafters of GRH had inserted a fall-back alternative. Under it, a congressional Joint Committee on Deficit Reduction would report a Joint Resolution embodying the OMB/CBO sequestration recommendations; the spending reductions would only become law if passed by the Congress and signed by the president.

This procedure would force each senator and representative to take a public stand on reductions, an action that heretofore has been assiduously avoided and is clearly not congenial. Not surprisingly, therefore, a number of constitutionally permissible proposals to restore the act's automatic nature have been floated: one would designate the Comptroller General an offical of the executive branch; another, passed by the Senate in late July, would give OMB the power to implement the cuts, but reserve for the Congress the right to challenge the executive decisions. The issue has yet to be resolved.

The most desirable and rational way to achieve the target levels of deficit reduction is through the regular budget process. But as the deadline approaches for completing this process, the specter of the GRH sanction of sequestration has added enormous uncertainty about the future funding of federal programs of critical importance to AAMC members: those of NIH, ADAMHA, the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA), and the VA.

President Reagan's FY 1987 budget request continued past efforts of the administration to reduce funding for domestic programs. While it met the GRH target of a deficit of \$144 billion, the proposal requested spending levels for NIH and ADAMHA that were \$424 million and \$7.7 million, respectively, below the FY 1986 pre-sequestration levels, to provide funding for 5104 new and competing grants at NIH and 448 at ADAMHA, down from 6100 and 505 in FY 1986. The request also called for a reduction in Medicare payments of \$3.94 billion under the current services level, the cost projection of FY 1986 program specifications into FY 1987. A large portion of the savings were to come from modifications in the reimbursement system for direct and indirect medical education costs, and from freezing physician fees. In addition, the reduction of \$422 million below FY 1986 appropriation levels proposed for HRSA eliminated the health professions education programs.

The president's budget request for the Vet-

erans Administration: reduced VA medical care funding by \$172 million from FY 1986 pre-sequestration levels, with the bulk of the savings accruing from the imposition of a means-test for certain veterans with non-service connected disabilities and from a new requirement that private insurers reimburse the VA for the cost of care to insured veterans; slightly reduced the VA research budget; and slashed by 40 percent over current services levels its major construction program. The request for the Department of Education brought interest rates on loan programs more in line with market levels; the substantial savings to the government were offset by higher costs to students.

The president also asked that a total of \$9.9 billion of FY 1986 spending authority be rescinded, including \$77 million from NIH, \$40 million from ADAMHA, \$269 million from HRSA, \$22 million from the Centers for Disease Control, and \$7 million from Medicaid program management. Congress, however, failed to approve these proposals within the required 45 day time limit and they died.

After the Senate Budget Committee and the full House of Representatives formally rejected the president's budget, work on a FY 1987 Congressional Budget Resolution began in March. The Senate completed action first, passing its version on May 2. The Democratic House, reluctant without Republican commitment to initiate the revenue increases many claimed were necessary to meet the GRH deficit targets, waited for Senate action prior to passing its Budget Resolution on May 17. The final compromise budget package, passed on June 26, sets aggregate expenditures at a historic peak of almost \$1.1 trillion in FY 1987, with an estimated deficit of \$142.6 billion, ostensibly \$1.4 billion below the GRH limit. The resolution limits defense expenditures to just over \$292 billion, but creates a separate "reserve" fund of \$7 billion which the president may tap, as long as both he and the Congress are willing to offset the increase by new revenues or reductions in nondefense expenditures. Revenues are raised only by \$6 billion over the baseline for FY 1987, a substantial decrease from original House and Sen-

ate plans. For health programs, the resolution: adds \$600 million in budget authority over post-sequestration levels to discretionary health programs in FY 1987; boosts Medicaid funding for infant mortality programs, for coverage of the elderly poor and to help states adversely affected by delays in the updates of federal matching rates; assumes certain savings in federal employee health benefits; calls for savings of \$550 million during the coming fiscal year through Medicare provider payment reforms; and adds \$250 million for future increases in the hospital deductible. For education programs the conference agreement restores most programs to the FY 1986 appropriated level.

Although extreme pressure to hold down expenditures was placed upon the Appropriations Committees, support for biomedical and behavioral research remained high. At hearings before both House and Senate Labor-Health and Human Services-Education appropriations subcommittees, AAMC witnesses urged that "the federal government must follow the policy that continuous steady investment in research and education is an investment in our country's future. This policy should remain invariant whatever the vagaries in the economy." They endorsed the recommendations of the Ad Hoc Group for Medical Research Funding that the appropriations for the research and research training programs of NIH and ADAMHA should be no less than \$6.079 billion and \$465 million. They also urged that health manpower programs be financed at least at current services levels. It was noted that in the research arena, the AAMCsupported levels of funding would provide only very modest program growth over current services levels and would be only minimally responsive to scientific opportunities. Student assistance was justified as necessary to guarantee socio-economically disadvantaged applicants access to medical education in the face of rapidly rising tuitions and other educational costs.

The House passed its FY 1987 appropriations bill for the Departments of Labor, Health and Human Services, Education and related agencies on July 31. NIH fared extremely well,

receiving a proposed funding level of over \$6.153 billion, an increase of \$893 million over the post-sequestration FY 1986 level and \$1.2 billion over the president's request. The ADAMHA research appropriation cannot be estimated because the House deferred appropriations for certain research programs whose expired authorizations await renewal. However, National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) research was increased to \$229 million, \$28.6 million over the FY 1986 post-sequestration level, while NIMH research and clinical training each got small additions.

In early August, the Senate Labor, Health and Human Services, Education and Related Agencies Appropriations Subcommittee approved a bill detailing NIH and ADAMHA funding for FY 1987. Funding for NIH was pegged to \$6.080 billion, an increase of almost \$811 million over last year's post-sequestration level. ADAMHA research and research training were proposed to be funded at a combined level of \$462.7 million. Shortly thereafter, the full Appropriations Committee approved this markup without change.

Continued strong support of medical programs under the Veterans Administration was also advocated by AAMC witnesses testifying before the House and Senate Appropriations Subcommittees on HUD-Independent Agencies. The Association articulated its concern about the Reagan Administration's calls for substantial funding and personnel reductions in these programs for FY 1987 which, coupled with a newly enacted means-test and GRH reductions, raised the possibilities of a substantial shrinkage of the VA medical care system and a reduction in the quality of care at just the time when the VA's medical mission should be increased to meet the growing demands. To ensure the continued vitality of the VA medical care enterprise, the Association recommended the FY 1987 appropriation be at least at the current services level of \$9.7 billion for medical care and \$193.5 million for research programs.

In late July the House Appropriations Committee adopted an FY 1987 funding measure for the VA that would boost its medical care account by 4 percent from last year's level to

\$9.5 billion, and increase its research budget substantially to \$193.9 million. The research increase was welcomed by many investigators who had feared that the VA research budget would be slashed to the \$181.8 million level that the FY 1987 Budget Resolution assumed.

In what had to be one of the longest struggles in recent memory between House and Senate negotiators, Congress finally approved the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA). The measure, originally introduced to make statutory changes necessary to effect compliance with the FY 1986 Congressional Budget Resolution passed in August 1985, bounced back and forth between the two bodies until a Senate-backed version was finally adopted on March 20,1986. COBRA contained a number of provisions of great concern to AAMC members that: increased DRG prices by 0.5 percent; added a third phase-in year for the prospective payment system, delaying the transition to a national standard; reduced the basic level for the indirect medical education adjustment to 8.1 percent and moderated the influence of the rising resident-to-bed ratios; increased by one percent the direct medical education passthrough payments, with future changes tied to variation in the CPI; limited full Medicare support for residents to the number of years necessary to qualify for initial board eligibility plus one, but not to exceed five, with 50 percent support thereafter; and continued the freeze on payments to physicians, except to those who are currently "participating."

A Council on Graduate Medical Education to make recommendations on physician specialty distribution was also established by COBRA. This proposal had been strongly opposed by AAMC when it was originally introduced on the grounds that it would establish a mechanism that might encourage government intrusion, by legislation or regulation, into highly complex areas more appropriately left to market forces. The Association expressed doubt that such a Council could predict with accuracy future health care needs, or the optimal distribution of physicians among medical specialties; however, in attempting to carry out such a task, the Council's actions

could wreak havoc with teaching hospitals which vary greatly in patient mix and, thus, in the types of residencies they can offer.

The traditional process for the review and award of federally-funded research grants was dealt another blow with the passage on June 24 of the Urgent Supplemental Appropriations for FY 1986. Contained in the final conference agreement was language mandating the Department of Defense to award approximately \$55.6 million in research and construction funds to nine specified universities for projects that had never undergone peer review for scientific and technical merit or for relevance to federal program goals. Earlier, during Senate floor debate on the issue, an amendment, strongly supported AAMC, to delete the "pork barrel" language was approved; but almost identical language was reinserted by the House conferees, and a second attempt in the Senate to strike the objectionable provision failed.

Almost as dominant as budgetary matters on the legislative agenda of the 99th Congress were actions to overhaul the federal income tax laws. Identified by President Reagan as the highest legislative goal of his second term, tax reform legislation has run a turbulent course during the past year.

As prescribed by the constitution, the House began the tax reform process. The Ways and Means Committee held hearings on tax reform legislation during the spring and summer of 1985, marked up the bill in closed session in October 1985, and then sent it to the House floor in December. A dramatic last-minute appeal from President Reagan, asking House Republicans to support the bill—not because of its merits but to keep the process alive for "perfection" in the Senate—saved it from almost certain defeat. A number of provisions in the House legislation turned out to be highly inimical to the best interests of the medical education and research community.

On the Senate side, action on tax reform legislation came in two distinct phases. The first was the markup of a measure formulated by the staff of Senate Finance Committee Chairman Robert Packwood. As markup advanced, the Committee soon discovered itself

adding numerous tax preferences to the bill, generating \$29 billion less in revenue over five years than in current law, and seriously violating President Reagan's dictum that any bill must be "revenue neutral" to garner his support. Senator Packwood abruptly cancelled further markup on the bill. By the time the Committee reconvened, he had embraced a radically different tax plan that embodied what most consider to be the principles of true tax reform. The plan retained many preferences in the current tax code relevant to the academic health community. The Senate passed the bill in late June with only three dissenting votes.

Starting from very divergent positions on tax reform, House and Senate conference committee members began meeting in early June to develop a compromise revenue bill. After long and acrimonious debates, often bogged down by efforts to protect tax advantages for home-state industries and concerns, a final agreement emerged on August 18th that embodied the most sweeping changes in tax structure in over 40 years. The conference proposal dramatically altered current tax rates, deductions, and exemptions. But it also profoundly reformed the assumptions underlying the use of the tax code as an instrument to effect changes in social policy.

Included in the far-ranging reform package were substantial modifications in many tax provisions of vital concern to AAMC members. On the issuance of tax-exempt bonds, non-profit, i.e., 501(c)(3), organizations would not be subject to any state volume cap, but non-health care institutions would be limited to an individual cap of \$150 million in outstanding bonded indebtedness. The amount of untaxed appreciation on property given as a gift and claimed as a deduction would be subject to an alternative minimum tax. Scholarship or fellowship awards for degree candidates in excess of the amount paid for tuition and required equipment would be considered taxable income. For pension plans, the bill would: allow a distinction to be made between faculty and nonfaculty employees in the offering of retirement options by academic institutions; limit annual individual contributions

to so-called 403 (b) tax-sheltered annuity plans to \$9,500 with an overall contribution ceiling of \$30,000; restrict annual contributions by employees of non-profit firms to Sec. 457 (unfunded deferred compensation) plans to the lesser of \$7,500 or one-third of total compensation; constrain contributions to so-called 401(k) plans to \$7,000 per year; permit full deductions for IRAs only for those not covered under an employer-sponsored retirement plan and earning less than a certain amount; and allow only the pension (and not the insurance) business of TIAA/CREF to remain tax-exempt. The value of faculty housing would be excluded from income, if rent paid to the institution exceeds five percent of the appraised value fo the dwelling. The tax credit for research and development activities would be extended through the end of 1988 at 20 percent; and a 20 percent tax credit would be applied to corporate cash expenditures for university basic research, above a specified floor. Consumer interest, including interest on student loans, would no longer be deductible under the plan.

Many members of the House and Senate—who must approve the final plan before it becomes law—were quick to laud the conference agreement, as was President Reagan.

Legislation reauthorizing and setting spending limits on many programs important to the AAMC's constituency was enacted during the 99th Congress. One of the most important and controversial was the measure reauthorizing programs and activities at the National Institutes of Health. Included in the compromise House-Senate legislation were provisions that: created a new National Institute for Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases and a National Center for Nursing Research; recodified Title IV of the Public Health Service Act to include delineation of specific authorities of the NIH Director, the establishment of the position of an NIH associate director for prevention, and the stipulation of the composition of national advisory councils; capped NIH administrative expenses; and imposed a long list of other mandates on NIH.

President Reagan vetoed the legislation on the grounds that it would adversely affect the pursuit of research excellence at NIH by adding numerous unnecessary administrative and program burdens, establishing unneeded new organizations, and imposing a uniform set of authorities on all research institutes. The AAMC supported the veto not only for the reasons cited in the veto message but because the cumulative impact of the bill constituted a major intrusion by government into the conduct of scientific research, a position reflecting the Association's consistent advocacy of maximum managerial and administrative flexibility at NIH. The veto was overridden in November 1985.

Agreeing last October to compromise legislation, the House and Senate renewed currently-funded health manpower programs in title VII for three years. Although he had pocket vetoed almost identical legislation after the 98th Congress had adjourned, the president presumably felt that, in the face of the overwhelming support for the measure shown in both the House and Senate, another veto would be futile, and so signed the measure into law. For FY 1986, overall spending ceilings were set at FY 1985 appropriations levels; over the subsequent two years, program levels increased by an amount approximately onehalf of the projected inflation level. No authorization was included for new federal capital contributions to the HPSL program; therefore, institutions will have to rely on their current revolving funds, at least for the next three years.

A number of major programmatic changes were also enacted in the reauthorization measure, especially for the Health Education Assistance Loan (HEAL) and Health Professions Student Loan (HPSL) programs. Males of relevant age will have to certify registration with the Selective Service System in order to be eligible for these loans. In addition, HPSL is modified to apply the National Direct Student Loan (NDSL) program delinquency formula to the program, allow larger penalties for late payments, and permit HHS to attempt collection on defaulted loans. HEAL program changes include a reduction of maximum interest rates on loans to 91-day T-bill rate plus three percent, a limitation of front-loaded insurance premiums to a maximum of eight percent if there is need for an increase, and a requirement that HEAL checks be issued jointly to the student and the academic institution. The new law also mandated an annual set-aside of 20 percent of the Health Careers Opportunity Program (HCOP) appropriation in order to provide stipends of not more than \$10,000 to students of exceptional financial need at schools of medicine, osteopathy, or dentistry.

For the last half decade, the role of animals in research has been a source of continuing controversy and ongoing debate, pitting the biomedical and behavioral research community against a small but vocal band of animal welfare/animal rights activists. After nearly four years of often acrimonious hearings, debates, discussions and negotiations among many parties holding various positions on the relevant issues, animal welfare legislation emerged in the 1985 farm bill and the NIH reauthorization. Neither is expected to seriously impede the progress of research, except to the extent that implementation may increase the cost of conducting it. The farm bill amended the Animal Welfare Act to require: new and stricter standards for animal care and use; more comprehensive reporting on compliance; training for all personnel involved in research with animals; establishment of at least one institutional animal committee at every institution, with membership and responsibilities clearly prescribed; exercise of dogs; an environment to promote the psychological well-being of primates; and consultation between Department of Health and Human Services and Department of Agriculture Secretaries to avoid conflicting regulations. The NIH renewal legislation contained less comprehensive requirements than did the farm bill; it essentially codified Public Health Service animal care policy. Among the important provisions in the law are a mandate that HHS issue guidelines for the care and treatment of animals in research, a requirement to establish animal care committees at all institutions receiving NIH funding whose research involves animals, stricter assurance requirements from research applicants that animal care guidelines

are being met and an authorization to the NIH to suspend or revoke awards for failure to comply with guidelines. Identical provisions are also included in the 1986 ADAMHA renewal bill.

No fewer than six pieces of legislation dealing with animals in research have emerged in the 99th Congress including one measure to prohibit the use of NIH funds for the purchase of pound animals for use in research and another to grant legal standing to animal rights groups to sue for Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service for failing to enforce the Animal Welfare Act.

The past year has witnessed extensive work on a five-year reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, which includes programs indispensable to medical students. Title IV programs—the Guaranteed Student Loan (GSL), the National Direct Student Loan (NDSL), and ALAS/PLUS Loan—provide almost 50 percent of all aid received by medical students. The House version of the legislation embodied substantial modifications to current law as advocated by AAMC and other organizations representing graduate and professional education, including a needs analysis test for all GSL applicants and increases in the annual graduate and professional GSL and student ALAS/PLUS loan limits to \$8,000 and \$4,000, respectively. It also renewed authority for loan consolidation, and created a graduate fellowship program in areas of national need. During the floor debate, the House approved amendments restoring the five percent origination fee that had been eliminated under the version reported by the Education and Labor Committee and imposing a performance standard on foreign medical schools as a condition for participation in the GSL program.

The Senate Labor and Human Resources Committee in April approved HEA legislation raising the funding ceiling in FY 1987 to \$9.7 billion, almost 13 percent over the previous year's appropriations, but almost \$930 million below House-passed legislation. The bill also embodied a provision lowering the yield to lenders on GSLs to the 91-day T-bill rate plus 3 percent, stricter criteria for establishing the independence of students applying for assist-

ance, an increase in the annual GSL limit to \$7,500 for graduate and professional school students, an increase in the yearly ALAS/PLUS maximum to \$4,000, and a loan consolidation provision under which HPSLs were included and HEALs were authorized to be repaid simultaneously with consolidated loans.

During floor debate on the Senate measure, an AAMC-backed committee amendment was adopted, requiring that for any foreign medical school to participate in the GSL program at least 75 percent of its students must be citizens of the country in which it is located. This differed from the cognate provision in the House bill: for a foreign medical school to be eligible to participate in the GSL program, at least 90 percent of the U.S. nationals matriculated therein must have scored in the top quartile of an approved medical college admissions test; and 50 percent of those who graduated must have passed an examination administered by the Educational Commission for Foreign Medical Graduates (ECFMG).

By the time Congress adjourned for the Labor Day recess, House/Senate conferees on the HEA bill had reached tentative agreement on a number of issues including: a compromise provision lowering the yield to lenders on GSLs to 91-day T-bill rate plus 3.25 percent; increases in the GSL and ALAS/PLUS to \$7,500 and \$4,000 annually; setting GSL interest rates at eight percent in the first four years of repayment, 10 percent thereafter; adopting the Senate's provision of a continuance of five percent GSL loan origination fee; loan consolidation for repayment of HPSLs along with administrative consolidation for HEALs; adoption in principle of a needs analysis test for all GSL applicants; and liberalization of the criteria for independency applied to graduate and professional students. Agreement was also reached on the participation of foreign medical schools in the GSL program; regrettably, the conferees elected to adopt both a modification of the AAMCbacked position in the Senate legislation and a modified version of its House counterpart. To be eligible to apply for GSL participation, a foreign institution must meet one of two

requirements: either 60 percent of the school's students must be nationals of the country where the school is located, or the U.S. students (presumably graduates) of the institution must have achieved at least a 45 percent pass rate-increasing to 50 percent after two years—on the ECFMG examination. While disappointing that the original Senate provision was not adopted, it is encouraging that Congress has taken action to establish more reasonable policies on the issue. Conferees, however, were still bogged down on the bill's total price tag, and a number of other issues had yet to be resolved. Convergence and agreement are imperative; unless the HEA is renewed before the end of the 99th Congress, the implementation of improvements in current law could be delayed for as long as a year, causing severe hardship for medical students.

Legislation reauthorizing the Orphan Drug Act to promote the development of therapeutic agents for rare diseases was signed into law by President Reagan in August 1985. The law authorizes \$4 million in grants in FY 1986 for the development of orphan drugs, and provides a seven-year market exclusivity period in order to create incentives within the pharmaceutical industry to develop and market these drugs. Also created is a 20-member National Commission on Orphan Diseases to monitor the progress toward goals of the legislation. In 1986 a provision granting orphan status to all human vaccines in order to create incentives for their continued development and availability was added to House legislation designed to create an out-of-court, no-fault compensation system for nearly two dozen common vaccine related injuries. This system, to be funded through an excise tax on vaccines, would cap pain and suffering awards at \$250,000, eliminate punitive damages, and limit amount of lost earnings claimed as a result of an injured child; if the plaintiffs are not satisfied with the out-of-court award, they would have 90 days to file a civil suit, with no limit on pain and suffering or damage awards.

Of continuing interest to the academic health community is the problem of an aging infrastructure at our nation's research facilities. During the first session of the 99th Congress, legislation was introduced in the House

to create a 10 percent set-aside from the uni-

versity research and development budgets of

the six largest research funding agencies to

fund facilities construction and rehabilitation

projects. The program would be authorized for 10 years, with the set-aside provision to begin in FY 1988 after a single year 10 percent increase in each agency's authorization level, earmarked for facilities construction, in FY 1987. Out of the total set-aside at each agency, 15 percent is to be further earmarked for awards to "emerging" universities. Concerns that the bill's 10 percent set-aside would not consist of new funds but instead would be taken from current research funds were magnified with the passage of the GRH Act late in 1985. The possibility that there would be no real growth in federal research spending in the near future substantially dampened enthusiasm for this proposal.

The need to modernize research facilities was also the subject of a conference jointly hosted by the National Science Board, the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy, and the Government-University-Industry Roundtable at the National Academy of Sciences. As its report stated, "The conference was not designed to adopt consensusbased recommendations. The participants were searching for a comprehensive set of approaches that would meet facilities needs on a continuing long-term basis, recognize the diversity among research institutions and disciplines, and allow for the establishment of new research capabilities as well as the maintenance of existing strengths." Among the identified potential action items for the federal government were acceleration of indirect cost recovery, provision of credit support through loans, and direct federal funding of a construction program. Also identified were action items for state governments and for research institutions.

In early June, the Office of Science and Technology Policy (OSTP) published in the

Federal Register a proposed "Model Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research" to be adopted by the 20-plus federal agencies involved in the support, conduct or regulation of research involving human subjects. The proposed model policy is the OSTP's response to the First Biennial Report of the President's Commission on Ethics in Medicine and Biomedical and Behavioral Research, and is based heavily on the existing DHHS regulations on human subjects promulgated in 1981. In its comments, AAMC praised the objectives of the proposed model policy to promote uniformity across all federal agencies, to recognize the differences among research institutions across the nation, and to allow institutional discretion in formulating local solutions to individual problems. AAMC took serious exception, however, to the proposed deletion of the current 60-day grace period between the time an institution submits a grant application to an agency and the institutional review board (IRB) certifies its approval of the project. The deletion of the grace period would create extreme hardship for grant applicants, research administrators and the IRBs, delay potentially promising research, and create unseemly pressure for IRB approval. AAMC also expressed concern that the Food and Drug Administration would not be required to adhere to the self-assurance system, and therefore will be able to continue its inspections to assure compliance.

Although the Association succeeded in a number of its efforts during the past year, there are many problems yet to be resolved. Effective advocacy for the highest priorities of the AAMC constituency on the national policy agenda—generous support for biomedical and behavorial research programs, adequate student financial assistance programs, and equitable reimbursement policies in academic medical centers for health care—must continue to be pressed, despite federal financial retrenchment.

Working with Other Organizations

The two highest elected officials and the chief executive officers of the American Medical Association, the American Hospital Association, the Council for Medical Specialty Societies, the American Board of Medical Specialties, and the AAMC serve on the Council for Medical Affairs. During the past year, the CFMA served as a forum for these important private sector health organizations to exchange views on such topics as assessment of clinical skills of foreign medical graduates, tax reform legislation, tort reform, integration of hospital and physician payments, use of animals in laboratory research, and international graduate medical education.

Since 1942, the Liaison Committee on Medical Education has been the national accrediting agency for all programs leading to the M.D. degree in the United States and Canada. The LCME, jointly sponsored by the Council on Medical Education of the American Medical Association and the Association of American Medical Colleges, has documented substantial change in U.S. and Canadian medical schools since its formation in 1942. The primary responsibility of the LCME is to attest to the educational quality of accredited programs, directly serving the interests of the general public and of the students enrolled. Thus, the process of accreditation is designed to determine the achievement and to certify the maintenance of minimum standards of education.

Historically, licensing bodies in the United States and Canada accept the M.D. degree from a program accredited by the LCME as a prerequisite for licensure. The process of evaluation and accreditation by the LCME assists institutions in determining effective allocation of their efforts and resources. Survey teams provide periodic external review, identifying areas requiring increased attention, as well as areas of strength and weakness. The LCME

serves the public interest by encouraging institutions with accredited programs leading to the M.D. degree to support, to the extent of their available resources, other educational programs, including graduate and continuing physician education, allied health education, graduate education in the biomedical sciences. public health, and research. In 1985, new standards for accreditation of M.D. degree programs were adopted by the LCME and approved by its sponsors. The ongoing implementation of these standards, defined in Functions and Structure of a Medical School, allows the LCME to continue its role in maintaining and enhancing high standards in medical education.

Through the efforts of its professional staff members of LCME provides factual information, advice, and formal and informal consultation visits to developing schools. Since 1960 41 new medical schools in the United States and four in Canada have been accredited by the LCME. This consultation service is also available to fully developed medical schools desiring assistance in the evaluation of their academic programs.

In 1985 there were 127 accredited medical schools in the United States, of which one has a two-year program in basic medical sciences. Additional medical schools are in various stages of planning and organization. The list of accredited schools is published in the AAMC Directory of American Medical Education.

A number of proprietary medical schools have been established or proposed for development in Mexico and various countries in the Caribbean area. These entrepreneurial schools seem to share the common purpose of recruiting U.S. citizens. The exposure of a scheme to sell false diplomas and credentials for two schools in the Dominican Republic has brought increased review by licensure bod-

252

ies of all foreign medical graduates, the indictment and conviction of the individuals involved, and greater suspicion of proprietary schools. Moreover, the percentage of foreign medical graduates receiving residency appointment is decreasing, due in part to the fact that the number of students graduating from U.S. medical schools closely matches the number of residency positions available. Thus, M.D. degree graduates from foreign medical schools of unknown quality may have increased difficulty in securing the residency training required by most states for medical licensure.

The Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education increased the scope of its responsibilities by initiating the accreditation of subspecialty programs in internal medicine and pediatrics. Accreditation is only accorded to subspecialty programs conducted in conjunction with a program in the primary specialty. Nevertheless, this brings over 2,000 programs under the ACGME's accreditation authority. The appeals process for programs sustaining adverse accreditation decisions was streamlined and a training program was established for members of appeal panels. A revision of the general requirements section of the Essentials of Accredited Residencies stating that all programs should provide instruction in ethical issues, in the socioeconomics of health care and in the importance of costeffective medical practice was approved by the ACGME and ratified by its sponsoring organizations.

During this past year one of the major challenges for the Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education was clarifying the procedures for treating "enduring materials," such as "printed, recorded, or computer-assisted instructional materials which... constitute a planned activity of continuing medical education." Guidelines were prepared to assist sponsors to comply with the ACCME Essentials for Accreditation of Sponsors of CME. The first formal appeal of an ACCME decision led to some revisions in the procedure for reconsideration and appeal of adverse accreditation decisions.

The American Board of Medical Specialties,

in response to the Association's concern about autonomous decisions by specialty boards to lengthen training requirements or otherwise impose additional resource demands on teaching hospitals, established a process to facilitate broad input by the medical education community before certification changes are adopted. An open forum will be convened by the ABMS within 180 days before the adoption of changes by a member certifying board.

Stimulated by the Association's 1981 recommendation that graduates of medical schools not accredited by the LCME be required to pass an examination of their clinical skills through direct observation, the Educational Commission for Foreign Medical Graduates began pilot testing an examination program for this purpose in 1985. The ECFMG plans to continue development of this "hands on" clinical examination in 1987 but has not yet decided whether the examination will become a part of its certification process.

For the fourth consecutive year, the Association provided the primary staff support and played a substantial role in the promotion of the Ad Hoc Committee on Medical Research Funding that seeks optimal appropriations for the National Institutes of Health and the Alcohol, Drug Abuse and Mental Health Administration. As in the earlier years, the coalition of approximately 150 organizations has recommended funding levels for the two agencies that the Congress has received as well justified and highly appropriate, thus displaying to the legislators a broadly-based dedication to a common goal.

In another research-related area, the Association has worked closely with other scientific and educational organizations in continuing to strengthen the capabilities of the National Association for Biomedical Research for the primary effort to maintain the availability of laboratory animals for research, education and testing. The increased aggressiveness, sophistication and financial strength of the animal rights movement have required a series of collective activities, ranging from participation in legislative battles to opposing litigation that would grant legal standing to organizations to sue for custody of laboratory animals under

state anti-cruelty statutes. The Association was involved in most of them.

The Association participates in the deliberations of the Joint Health Policy Committee of the Association of American Universities/American Council on Education/National Association of State Universities and Land Grant Colleges, the Washington Higher Education Secretariat, and the Intersociety Council for Biology and Medicine.

The Association's Executive Committee meets periodically with its counterpart in the Association of Academic Health Centers. The organizations regularly exchange information and collaborate on programs such as an ongoing study of university ownership of teaching hospitals and a committee to develop strategies for the promotion of academic medical centers.

Education

Improving medical education is a high priority for the Association and its constituents. This is evidenced by the focus of the Council of Deans 1986 spring meeting on the attractiveness of medicine as a profession, institutional responsibility for medical student and graduate medical education, and transition from medical school to residency education. There is a growing consensus that medical student education is too fragmented and in many schools lacks a unifying authority. Greater interdisciplinary cooperation in program development and student evaluation is necessary with deans assuming primary academic responsibility and authority. One outcome of the deans' discussions has been the development of a project to identify and reward excellence in teaching.

The Executive Council appointed an ad hoc Committee on Graduate Medical Education and the Transition from Medical School to Residency in response to concerns about problems in moving between medical student and resident education. The committee, recognizing the need for encouraging discussion of key issues among all who are responsible for medical student and resident education, developed a working document that has been widely distributed for discussion and comment. The committee's key recommendations are that: the ACGME establish an institutional review committee to determine whether institutions sponsoring graduate medical education programs are in compliance with the general requirements section of the Essentials of Accredited Residencies: students take clinical electives at other institutions only after completing their required clerkships at their own schools; written evaluations of students' performances be more candid and describe weaknesses as well as strengths; residency programs not encourage students to take electives in their programs for making selection decisions:

the National Residency Matching Program change its timetable to announce matching results on April 1; student evaluations not be provided to program directors before November 1 of the senior year; and negotiations be undertaken with specialties currently holding early matches to have these specialties use the NRMP. These recommendations are the topic of a special general session at the 1986 annual meeting.

The 1985 Conference on the Clinical Education of Medical Students cast a strong light on the need for moving clinical education from the current heavy dependence on hospitalized patients to more diverse clinical settings. The increasing complexity of the clinical problems of hospitalized patients and policies to shorten hospital stays make it difficult for students to acquire basic clinical skills in hospital clerkships. Greater use of ambulatory care settings for education must be developed. The Association is planning a symposium on the problems that occur when basic clinical education is given in ambulatory clinics and how they can be resolved.

The Association's Clinical Evaluation Program is entering a new period emphasizing the dissemination of the self-assessment materials and literature evaluations developed in the project's earlier phases. The pilot schools will continue to be a resource as insights gained from the project become available to the entire membership. The Association also plans to incorporate the project's findings into other ongoing AAMC projects.

Clinical evaluation continues to be an important topic for the Group on Medical Education. One of the 1986 annual meeting sessions will focus on experimental efforts to assess student performance against the clinical competencies identified by faculty as implicit in the awarding of the M.D. degree. The session will review the experience of three insti-

tutions in depth and explore the practice at nine other schools.

In its continuing efforts to reinforce the recommendations from the General Professional Education of the Physician Project Report, the GME has undertaken several projects to facilitate educational progress review and the development of a program of change. One instance involves the development of guidelines for instituting change and the preparation of scenarios for developing skills in dealing with change. The GME Task Force on the Review of Curricular Innovations is developing a compendium of educational innovations that will include descriptions and reviews of each according to guidelines developed and tested previously by the Task Force.

The deans for curriculum or academic affairs meet regularly to improve their expertise and skills in the performance of their roles. A proposal to develop a formal workshop program on facilitating educational change on an institutional basis builds on the key role of the curriculum dean in managing such change.

The essence of almost all GME activities is providing forums for the exchange of information and material to improve medical education. One of the most efficient mechanisms for doing this has turned out to be the AAMC Education Networks, which make it possible for the membership to identify colleagues interested and expert in six high-priority problem areas. New networks may be developed in clinical evaluation and among those responsible for "Introduction to Clinical Medicine" courses.

One of the most enduring forums for discussing medical education has been the Conference on Research in Medical Education. This year RIME celebrates its 25th Anniversary. A brochure recounting the history of RIME and its contributions to medical education has been prepared. The Silver Anniversary Invited Review emphasizes the importance of drawing from adult education in confronting the challenges of medical education.

The Executive Council appointed an ad hoc committee to review the Association's Medical College Admission Test program. The committee found that the MCAT is useful in help-

ing to establish minimum academic qualifications of applicants. It recommended that the essay pilot project continue to assess the inclusion of an essay as one subtest of the MCAT. The Committee recommended an evaluation of the content of the science subtests and the consideration of alternative methods of score reporting. The Committee also endorsed a program to improve the ways that admissions committees use the MCAT in selection decisions.

The MCAT Essay Pilot Project has yielded some very encouraging results. The project has been successful in developing essay topics that elicit a sufficiently wide range of responses. Correlations between the essay and other MCAT tests indicate that the essay assesses a skill or skills unexamined by the other tests. Data from three administrations verify that essays can be scored with a high degree of reliability. Research on the development of essay topics that are equivalent in different administrations continues.

Validity data on enrolled medical students and the essay's impact on the selection process are being investigated by schools participating in the pilot project. Research on the essay's impact on the attitudes, course selection, curriculum, and application patterns of undergraduate students has been designed. Cost data on the development, administration, and distribution of the essay will become available as the project progresses. The essay will continue to be administered on a pilot basis in 1987. Many schools expect to use essays in their 1988 admissions decisions.

Results from an Association survey of admissions officers will be used to evaluate the present system of disseminating MCAT data and interpretive information and to document methods of using scores in the admissions process. A nontechnical guide to the use of the MCAT will be available November 1986.

Clinical data are being collected from several schools in the MCAT interpretive studies program. These data will be used to examine the relationship between pre-admission data and performance in the clinical setting. Research is underway on the appropriateness of the current format and content coverage of

the MCAT. Two studies on the effects of commercial review courses on MCAT scores recently appeared in the *Journal of Medical Education*.

The MCAT Score Release System now allows examinees to have personal data circulated to U.S. and Canadian schools of medicine, osteopathy, podiatry, and veterinary medicine for recruitment purposes. For the spring 1986 administration, 87 percent of the examinees signed the release.

The MCAT continues to be offered in New York State under the protection of the preliminary injunction issued by the Federal Court in 1980 after the Association challenged that state's law on disclosure of standardized tests. Discovery has been under way during this past year and a trial date seems likely in the coming year. Meanwhile, new legislation further reg-

ulating standardized testing failed to be enacted but is expected to be reintroduced.

The Association completed work on its project on the evaluation of medical information science in medical education, and more than 5,500 copies of the project's final report have been distributed. The report concluded that medical informatics is basic to the understanding and practice of modern medicine and recommended that it become an integral part of the medical education program. Academic medical centers were urged to develop an identifiable locus of activity in medical informatics to foster research, integrate instruction, and encourage appropriate uses for patient care. The National Library of Medicine was recognized as the major federal agency to support the development of this field.

Biomedical and Behavioral Research

The support and conduct of research in the biomedical and behavioral sciences continue to receive challenges from many quarters.

The scale of the federal investment in biomedical and behavioral research persists as a major concern for the academic medical community. The number of high quality research proposals continues to increase faster than the growth of funding to support such research. This growing disparity between existing scientific opportunities and the resources available to realize this potential generates tremendous pressures and conflicts within the system. These pressures were amplified by the enactment of the Gramm-Rudman-Hollings deficit reduction amendment, which resulted in a 4.3 percent across the board reduction of the funding for biomedical and behavioral research in fiscal 1986.

The Gramm-Rudman-Hollings cuts in funding, coupled with the failure of the Congress to appropriate sufficient funds to pay the full costs for the 6,100 new and competing research project grants that it mandated the National Institutes of Health to support in fiscal year 1986, necessitated an average "downward negotiation" of more than 9 percent from study section recommended levels for competing grants and 6.5 percent for noncompeting grants at the NIH.

The specter of additional Gramm-Rudman-Hollings budget slashing in fiscal year 1987, combined with administration efforts to "zero out" programs such as the Biomedical Research Support Grants, augur further fiscal stringencies that can only aggravate the already intense competition for research funding.

The difficulties in reconciling limited federal resources and the costs of research surfaced in the debate surrounding the administration's attempt to reduce payments for the "indirect" costs associated with federally sponsored re-

search projects. In February, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) published a proposal to limit the administrative costs portion of the indirect costs to 26 percent of the mean total direct costs (MTDC) as of April 1, 1986, and to 20 percent of MTDC as of April 1, 1987. The 20 percent ceiling is below current cost recovery for all but 10-15 percent of the nation's top 150 research universities.

The Association urged OMB to negotiate with research faculty, university administrators, and other interested parties to reorganize the accounting of indirect costs. AAMC urged that instead of lumping all administrative costs together, OMB provide a fair and reliable method for determining departmental administrative costs that also permits relief from the need for faculty effort reporting and a separate cost pool for those administrative expenses mandated by federal regulation (such as animal care and human subjects committees).

At the same time, the Association advocated imposition of an immediate freeze in place of each university's present administrative rate through fiscal year 1987 and permanent elimination of the DHHS system of retroactive reimbursement of indirect cost adjustments during the grant year. The Association noted that these two actions would distribute budgetary savings more equitably and prevent further growth in administrative indirect cost rates while negotiations took place.

The Government-University-Industry Research Roundtable of the National Academy of Sciences assembled a negotiating team representing the major constituencies to meet with OMB. As a result of pressure from the academic community, the OMB modified its proposal in early June. The revised policy limits the salaries and benefits for administrative work by department heads, directors of divisions and research units, faculty, and professional staff at three percent of MTDC.

258

Expenses for deans' offices, academic departments, organized research units, and other similar units will no longer be included under the general administration cost pool. The departmental administration rate will be based on an accounting of actual departmental administrative indirect costs, with the exception of those now included in the fixed three percent category. No effort reporting documentation will be required to support the three percent allowance. This new proposal will be implemented on all grants awarded after July 1, 1987.

The competition for research support also has resulted in efforts to persuade the Congress to earmark increasingly larger portions of the federal research budget for particular programs. The wisdom of such earmarks was again debated during reauthorization hearings for the Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) program. This set-aside program was enacted in 1982, and currently requires the Department of Health and Human Services and other federal agencies with annual extramural research and development budgets in excess of \$100 million to reserve 1.25 percent of those budgets for awards to small businesses.

At hearings in July on H.R. 4620, which proposed permanent authority for the SBIR program, the Association opposed the use of set-asides as not compatible with sound public policy. Such mechanisms reduce programmatic flexibility and force federal agencies to support grant applications on a basis other than scientific and technical merit. The AAMC also cautioned against establishing permanent authority for a program that has not undergone any formal evaluation of the effectiveness of its expenditures.

The Association completed a major review of its policies on biomedical and behavioral research with the publication, in April, of the final report of the ad hoc Committee on Federal Research Policy. This committee conducted a year-long overview of the broad policy issues related to the federal role in biomedical and behavioral sciences research. This overview was stimulated, in part, by the activities of the House Task Force on Science Pol-

icy, which moved into its second year of a study of all aspects of national science policy.

The committee made recommendations in six key areas related to biomedical and behavioral sciences research: the goals of the federal research effort; research manpower and training; research infrastructure; research awards system; federal funding for research; and formulation of federal science policy.

The committee reaffirmed that the goal of federally supported biomedical and behavioral sciences research should be to acquire an expanded base of scientific knowledge to improve the health of the American people. It was noted that NIH and ADAMHA have the acquisition of basic biological and clinical knowledge as their primary mission, and that this mission must be protected and enhanced. The limited resources available for research must not be deployed to achieve non-scientific objectives. The committee concluded that the benefit to all aspects of the economy derived from research should be a consequence, not a goal of the research effort.

The federal contribution to biomedical and behavioral research through NIH ADAMHA is unique because it emphasizes basic biological and clinical investigations. many of which would go unfunded without federal support. The committee emphasized the long-term nature of biomedical research; the nation's medical schools and academic medical centers took years to acquire and develop the talent and resources necessary to achieve current levels of contributions to knowledge. Reductions in federal support for biomedical research have a far greater impact than merely the immediate cuts suffered by individual programs; such cuts have a lasting effect on the nation's biomedical research effort that may take years to reverse.

The committee recommended an increase of 10 percent per year in annual appropriations for NIH and ADAMHA to maintain the present scale of research effort. An additional five to 10 percent yearly increase in NIH and ADAMHA appropriations for the next five years was recommended to allow the system to take full advantage of currently available but unmet scientific opportunities.

The committee urged that the federal government continue to maintain diverse programs of research support that emphasize the vital role of investigator-initiated research. The committee also reaffirmed the value and necessity of basing funding selections on a rigorous technical review for scientific merit. They advocated continuation of the predominantly extramural and academically based system of research to take advantage of the enormous national pool of creative scientific talent and resources, and to maintain the unique bond that exists between education and research. In addition, a diversity of institutions provides greater flexibility to respond to scientific opportunities of varying degrees of scale and complexity.

The basic components of a sound federal program for the support of research training are in place. The committee recommended maintaining the current heterogeneity of training programs, with continued emphasis on support for postdoctoral programs. Two problem areas with regard to research training were highlighted. The committee recommended efforts to identify and address the causes for the declining interest of young people in careers in biomedical research. The committee also expressed concern over the lack of well-qualified physician investigators and praised programs such as the NIH Medical Scientist Training Program and the Physician Scientist Awards as models for the design of M.D. research training.

Often overlooked in the debate surrounding the scale of the federal investment in biomedical research are the research resources beyond the direct cost portion of the grant that are needed to sustain the fragile research environment. The committee made several suggestions to enhance federal support for equipment, facilities, and shared resources. The committee also urged all segments of the research community to work toward ensuring that indirect costs are true and necessary costs of research. At the same time, the government must make efforts to streamline and reduce the bureaucratic requirements that add unnecessary institutional and administrative burdens and indirect costs.

Finally, the committee urged greater involvement of the scientific community in the formulation of national research policy by the executive and legislative branches. Efforts must be made to ensure that the Congress and the president receive impartial, realistic, and timely advice from scientists related to the goals of the biomedical and behavioral research and the means to achieve these goals. Research agency advisory councils and the National Academy of Sciences were seen as appropriate sources of such advice.

Attention remains focused on the issues surrounding the care and use of animals in laboratory research. In October 1985, a combined ad hoc committee representing the AAMC and the Association of American Universities issued its final report on the "Governance and Management of Institutional Animal Resources." This report identifies the responsibilities of institutional personnel in assuring that all animal facilities and research and training procedures are beyond reproach and are in compliance with all applicable laws. regulations, and guidelines. The report also addresses the need to educate the non-scientific public about the importance of animals in research and education. The report's recommendations are intended as guidelines for institutional administrators, animal resource managers, researchers, faculty and public affairs personnel.

In December the president signed legislation amending the Animal Welfare Act governing the use of animals in research, education, and testing. In a coordinated effort, the Association joined forces with other members of the biomedical research community to assure that the needs of researchers were considered during the lengthy negotiations involved in the final passage of this bill. As a result, the amendments to the Animal Welfare Act are far less burdensome and restrictive than early legislative proposals, and should ensure continued access to animal models for both research and education in the biomedical and behavioral sciences. The Association was also active in providing information to the Department of Agriculture's Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS), which was

responsible for promulgating regulations to implement the Animal Welfare Act amendments. The Association was concerned that APHIS recognize the need for broad, generic regulations that will allow for institutional flexibility and individual professional judgment.

The Association also joined nearly 100 other organizations representing both scientific and animal protection interests in urging increased funding for APHIS. The administration had proposed that APHIS be terminated, in spite of the new responsibilities mandated by the Animal Welfare Act amendments. The Association urged the Congress to provide \$6.6 million for APHIS in fiscal year 1987.

Activities on behalf of animal rights continue. Beginning in April, animal rights groups, led by the People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals, staged a vigil at the NIH campus, demanding the release of 15 primates being held at the NIH animal facility. The animal activists wanted the animals, which

were owned by the Institute for Behavioral Research, to be transferred to a privatelyowned primate facility in Texas. The vigil attracted the attention of more than 200 congressmen and 50 senators who signed letters to the Director of NIH requesting the release of the animals to the Texas facility. The Association and 27 other organizations sent a letter to Congress in support of the NIH position that the monkeys were the subject of pending litigation and that the animals should be available for an appropriate institution to complete the research for which they were acquired. Resolutions were introduced in both the House and Senate requiring that NIH transfer the animals to the private facility, but these measures did not receive sufficient support. The Department of Health and Human Services and NIH attempted to reach a compromise late in July by sending the primates to the Delta Primate Center in Louisiana. where the animals would not be subjects of invasive research procedures and every reasonable effort would be made to resocialize them.

Faculty

The Association has a long-standing concern for medical school faculty issues relating to scholarship, research, and research training. These issues include the lack of sufficient funds for investigator-initiated research grants, the apparent decline in the number of physicians entering research careers, the difficulty of Ph.D. biomedical scientists in securing appropriate academic appointments, and limitations on research training. Data are collected and analyzed to illuminate these areas, and the results are used to inform discussions by the Administrative Boards of the Association and by its committees. The study results are also used in discussions with staff of the National Institutes of Health and other federal agencies, as well as in preparation of Association testimony for congressional committees.

The Faculty Roster System, initiated in 1966, collects and maintains information on current appointment, employment history, credentials and training, and demographic data for full-time salaried faculty at U.S. medical schools. In addition to supporting AAMC studies of faculty and research manpower, the system provides medical schools with faculty information to be used in completing questionnaires for other organizations, identifying alumni serving on faculties at other schools, and producing special reports. As of June 1986, the Faculty Roster data base contained records for 58,277 active and 60,924 former members of medical school faculties.

A survey of all full-time faculty in departments of medicine was recently conducted in cooperation with the Association of Professors of Medicine. Results of this study were published in the *Annals of Internal Medicine*, and a comprehensive report is being prepared for

the APM and the National Institutes of Health. A second survey of internal medicine faculty on research training is in progess. The combined data from these surveys and the Faculty Roster are a rich source of information on the research activities of more than 7,000 faculty members.

Faculty Roster data are periodically matched to NIH records on research training and grant applications and awards to analyze the relationships among training, academic careers, and the faculty's role in the conduct of biomedical research. These research activities, as well as the maintenance of the Faculty Roster data base, receive support from the National Institutes of Health.

A new edition of Women and Minorities on U.S. Medical School Faculties was published in early 1986. This is an updated and expanded version of reports that have been published periodically since 1976. The Association assists its members in their affirmative action recruitment efforts by providing, on request, lists of women and minority faculty members who are qualified for specified faculty openings and who have consented to the release of their names. Since 1980 more than 1,200 recruitment requests from medical schools have been answered.

The Association's 1985-86 Report on Medical School Faculty Salaries summarizes compensation data provided by 122 U.S. medical schools. The tables present mean compensation data and percentile statistics by department and rank for basic and clinical science faculty. Salary data are also displayed according to school ownership, degree held, and geographic region for the 36,150 full-time faculty reported to the survey.

Students

As of September 5, 1986, 31,267 applicants had filed 293,206 applications for the entering class of 1986 in the 127 U.S. medical schools. These totals, although not final, represent a continuing decrease in the national applicant pool. The 1986 applicant pool is estimated to be approximately 31,300 applicants, a 4.8 percent decrease from 1985.

The total number of new entrants to the first year medical school class decreased from 16,395 in 1984 to 16,268 in 1985. Total medical school enrollment also declined from 67,016 to 66,585.

The number of women new entrants reached 5,520; the total number of women enrolled was 21,650, a 1.6 percent increase. Women held 32.5 percent of the places in the nation's medical schools in 1985 compared to 26.5 percent in 1980.

There were 1,388 underrepresented minority new entrants, 8.5 percent of the 1985 first year new entrants. The total number of underrepresented minorities was 5,655 or 8.5 percent of all medical students enrolled in 1985.

For the 1986-87 first-year class, 836 applicants were accepted under the Early Decision Program by the 75 medical schools offering this option. Since each of these applicants filed only one application rather than the average 9.3 applications, the processing of approximately 6,900 additional applications and scores of joint acceptances was avoided. In addition, the program allowed successful early decision applicants to finish their baccalaureate programs free from concern about admission to medical school.

American Medical College Application Service in processing first-year application materials for the 1986 entering classes had 102 medical schools participate, as well as the Drew/UCLA and Berkeley/San Francisco Joint Medical Programs. In 1987, 105 medical

schools will participate in AMCAS. In addition to collecting and coordinating admission data in a uniform format, AMCAS provides rosters and statistical reports and maintains a national data bank for research projects on admission, matriculation, and enrollment. The AMCAS program is guided in the development of its procedures and policies by the Group on Student Affairs Steering Committee.

The AAMC Advisor Information Service circulates rosters and summaries of applicants and acceptance data to 340 subscribing health professions advisers at undergraduate colleges and universities.

The Medical Sciences Knowledge Profile examination was administered for the seventh time in June 1986 to 1,659 citizens or permanent resident aliens of the United States and Canada. The examination assists constituent schools of the AAMC in evaluating individuals for advanced placement. While 3.9 percent of those registering for the test had degrees in other health professions, 91 percent were enrolled in a foreign medical school.

Beginning in 1983, the AAMC and the National Resident Matching Program cooperated to establish the AAMC/NRMP Follow-up System for medical school graduates. This system combined the results of the matching program with the AAMC Student Records System and provided listings to individual medical schools of their current graduates as well as prior year graduates and Fifth Pathway students registering for the current match. These listings provide information on programs and hospitals where these individuals matched through NRMP and solicit information on those who did not register for the match, withdrew from the match, or registered but did not receive a residency assignment through NRMP. This exchange of information by U.S. medical schools has continued for

three years. Commencing with the 1985 graduating class, actual LCME medical school graduate reports were generated from the follow-up system for the schools to report graduation information to the AMA and the AAMC.

In the fall of 1984, hospitals identified in the 1983 follow-up system as having individuals enrolled in their graduate medical education programs received computer-generated listings to confirm the previous year's appointment and to report individual plans for the current academic year. They were also asked to provide similar information for individuals who did not appear on the computer-generated listings. Responses were received from all 825 hospitals surveyed. This was repeated in fall 1985 with the addition of 1984 medical school graduates and associated match results, and will be continued for 1986.

During the past year, the Association has worked with student affairs offices in the development of guidelines for the management of students with Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. A document containing examples of institutional policies has been distributed and an updated version will be disseminated in early 1987.

The Association has conducted several studies to examine the characteristics of the applicant pool particularly during the period beginning in 1981. Although the number of applicants has decreased to a national applicant-to-position ratio of 1.9 to 1, the qualifications of the group as assessed by MCAT scores and GPAs have not been affected. While the national group of 1985 applicants is comparable to the 1981 group, there exists considerable variation in the qualifications of the applicant group categorized by age, sex, and self-description. These differences are the subject of current study by the Association.

The increasing cost of medical education and the rise in the debt of medical school graduates are of great concern to the Association. The percentage of graduates with debt in excess of \$30,000 has increased from 14.5 percent in 1981 to 38.6 percent in 1985. In 1985, the mean debt for graduates with debt was \$30,256.

In response to the substantial changes in student financial assistance, the Association has initiated MEDLOANS, a new consolidated medical student loan program, in which students can apply for three federal loan programs (GSL, ALAS, HEAL) and a new Alternative Loan Program (ALP) through a consolidated application procedure. ALP is an assured access program that does not require the medical student to have a cosigner, nor does it require the borrower to make interest payments while in school or during the first 3 years of residency training. Since it is not a federal loan, the terms and conditions are not subject to the unpredictable changes made by Congress. The Association is also planning a comprehensive program in counseling and debt management for medical students that will begin in spring 1987.

The Association continues to administer several projects to enhance opportunities for minorities in medical education. The activities under two Health Career Opportunity Program grants include workshops to reinforce and develop effective programs for the recruitment and retention of students underrepresented in medicine. Of these, the Simulated Minority Admissions Exercise Workshop is for medical school personnel concerned with the admission and retention of minority students. The Training and Development Workshops for Counselors and Advisors of Minority Students provide information about ethnic and racial minority students and train counselors and advisers to work with the latest techniques appropriate for underrepresented minority students. An important objective is to have participants gain information about the differences among minority groups and to help participants develop alternative techniques for each group.

The Association, through the continuing support of the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, is developing the third edition of *Minority Students in Medical Education: Facts and Figures*.

Recently, the AAMC was awarded a contract from the Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration to provide an analysis of med-

ical schools with high and low minority graduation rates. The study will examine the factors associated with the retention and graduation of underrepresented minorities. The outcome of this project should be of considerable value to understanding the factors that influence minority student enrollment in and graduation from non-minority institutions.

Institutional Development

The AAMC Management Education Programs, now in their 15th year, offer seminars to enhance the leadership and management capabilities of AAMC member institutions. These programs for senior academic medical center officials emphasize management theory and techniques. The Executive Development Seminar, an intensive week-long session, was presented to 105 medical school department chairmen and assistant and associate deans from 72 institutions. These seminars assist institutions in integrating organizational and individual objectives, strengthening the decision-making and problem-solving capabilities of academic medical center administrators. developing strategies for more flexible adaptation to changing environments, and developing a better understanding of the function and structure of the academic medical center.

In addition to the Executive Development Seminars, special topic workshops are offered. A seminar on "Information Management in the Academic Medical Center" was attended by 51 individuals from 29 institutions. The seminar acquaints administrators with the rapid development of advanced information technologies and assists them in meeting the challenges of information management in the complex environment of the academic medical center.

A series of four educational seminars devoted to the challenges posed to academic medical centers by alternative medical care delivery systems was held regionally during the spring of 1986. Each included an analysis of the current environment, a conceptual framework for analyzing the academic medical center's position and role in this environment, and an exploration of the experience of several institutions in coping with alternative

delivery systems such as brokered care or capitated systems.

Six new workshops based on AAMC data and conclusions from its clinical evaluation project are designed to assist schools in the development and implementation of more responsive evaluation systems.

A key strategic issue for AAMC member institutions is the preservation of their patient bases for teaching and research in a more competitive medical practice environment. The AAMC Committee on Faculty Practice at its first meeting discussed the growth of service organizations associated with the medical education institutions and increasing institutional dependence on medical practice income, academic medical center sponsorship of and/or affiliation with health maintenance organizations, the governance of faculty practice activities, trends toward ambulatory care delivery and role of the academic medical center in providing primary care, and clinical faculty appointment systems and personnel policies. In addition to the regional seminars on alternative delivery systems, several initiatives have resulted from the committee's activities. A survey identifying medical schools with special non-tenure clinician-educator faculty tracks for full-time faculty members engaged in patient care and teaching was reported. The Association is seeking funding for a more comprehensive study of the appointment systems and personnel policies that govern the activities of clinical faculty members, physician employees of the medical center, and medical staff. That study includes a national conference on faculty practice in 1987. In November 1986, the AAMC will sponsor a small group invitational symposium on adapting clinical education to the ambulatory care setting.

Teaching Hospitals

The refinement of the Prospective Payment System (PPS) for Medicare reimbursement to hospitals and the options for future financing of graduate medical education continue to be important concerns for the AAMC. The Association is also concerned with the effect of the prospective payment system on quality of care, how capital will be handled under PPS, continued access of non-profit hospitals and universities to tax-exempt financing, and proposed changes to Medicare reimbursement for financing graduate medical education.

AAMC actions were taken within the framework of two policy documents accepted by the Executive Council on Medicare reimbursement and on financing graduate medical education.

As a result of activities in the last Congress, the Association reviewed and revised its positions on Medicare hospital payment policies. The AAMC vigorously opposes any freeze in Medicare payments to hospitals and strongly recommends that Congress amend the prospective payment system so that payments are made on a DRG-specific blended rate of hospital-specific and federal component prices. If Congress does not enact DRG-specific price blending, then the Association recommends amending the DRG price formula to a blend of 50 percent hospital-specific costs and 50 percent regional average costs.

The AAMC supports recomputing the resident-to-bed adjustment using current hospital resident and bed data, up-to-date corrected hospital case mix indices, corrected wage indices, and a regression equation which incorporates only variables used in determining DRG payments. The most recent analyses by the Congressional Budget Office support a curvilinear adjustment of 8.7 percent per 0.1 resident per bed. The AAMC strongly supports including the same types of residents in the payout of the indirect medical education ad-

justment as are included in the statistical formulation of the adjustment. The AAMC supports eliminating Medicare funding for residents who are not graduates of accredited medical or osteopathic schools in the United States or Canada. Explicit Medicare funding should be retained for graduate medical education for the period required to attain board eligibility (to a maximum of five years) plus one additional clinical year for advanced specialty and subspecialty positions in hospitals in which the positions were supported by Medicare in FY 1984-85. For any resident presently in training who would not be included in the passthrough, there should be a phase-in of Medicare payment changes.

The Association endorses an adjustment in prospective payments to recognize the generally higher costs incurred by hospitals serving a disproportionate number of indigent Medicare patients, even if implementation of such an adjustment leads to a recalculation of the indirect medical education adjustment. The AAMC supports correcting the wage index numbers used in prospective payments but recommends amending the law to eliminate the current requirement that the new index numbers be applied retroactively to October 1. 1983. Congress should require HCFA to update each hospital's published case mix index using data from the hospital's first year under prospective payment. The Association also advocates removing the Medicare Part A Trust Fund from the automatic reduction provisions of the Emergency Deficit Control Act of 1985.

The AAMC Committee on Financing Graduate Medical Education was charged with assessing the current methods for financing graduate medical education and determining whether those sources could continue to provide adequate support in the near future. Since graduate medical education takes place pri-

marily in teaching hospitals and adds to the cost of operating the hospital, changes in payment methods have raised the concern that teaching hospitals may no longer be able to sustain their current support of graduate medical education. Further, more care is delivered in ambulatory settings which have no clear sources of funding for education activities.

The first major issue discussed by the Committee was the creation of a separate fund for financing graduate medical education to eliminate the current reliance on teaching hospital payments from insurers and governmental programs. However, it would mean total dependence on the funding policies established by this single source. The committee concluded that changes in hospital payments are likely to reduce the support teaching hospitals can provide for graduate medical education. Although the full effects of the current environment on teaching hospitals' ability to support graduate medical education are unknown, the committee believed that they do not warrant acceptance of the disadvantages of a single national fund. The committee recommended that teaching hospital revenues from patient care payers continue to be the principal means of supporting graduate medical education with all payers providing their appropriate share. Sources such as state and local governments, special purpose federal programs, and private organizations may also need to provide greater support in the future. Other recommendations of the committee concerned the obligation of the medical education community to monitor the quality of residency training programs, to train the types of physicians needed by society, and to operate in a cost-effective manner. The committee further recommended that limits be placed on the length of training for which teaching hospitals are expected to provide a major source of support. Residents should be supported in their training at least until they are capable of the independent practice of medicine. A coordinated, nationwide private sector effort should be made to collect and disseminate information on the supply of physicians by specialty, and residents and programs in the ambulatory care settings must be supported.

In February 1986, the AAMC testified before the Subcommittee on Health of the House Committee on Ways and Means on Medicare payments for hospital capital. The AAMC testimony pointed out that historical data comparing capital to total expenses have been misinterpreted by some to imply that major teaching hospitals have lower absolute capital costs than other hospitals. In fact, capital costs per unit of workload performed are higher in major teaching hospitals than in other hospitals. Further, major teaching hospitals have older plants than other hospitals, and recently increased capital spending by major teaching hospitals may alter statistical relationships from the 1970s and early 1980s. The AAMC supports replacing institutionally specific. cost-based retrospective payments for capital with prospectively specified capital payments. and supports separating capital costs into movable equipment and fixed equipment and plant. The Association's testimony indicated support for incorporating capital payments for movable equipment into prospective payment using a percentage "add-on" to per case payments. The AAMC supports a percentage addon to per case prices for capital costs of fixed equipment and plant that is no less than Medicare's current percentage of hospital payments for facilities and fixed equipment, provided it appropriately compensates teaching hospitals for their distinctive costs. AAMC further supports a long-term, hospitalspecific transition from the capital passthrough to prospective payments for plant and fixed equipment. The transition period should allow each hospital its choice of cost reimbursement for depreciation and interest on adjusted base period capital or a prospective percentage add-on that is no less than Medicare's current percentage of hospital payments for facilities and equipment.

The Association testified before the House Ways and Means Committee's Subcommittee on Health outlining the AAMC's positions on the Administration's FY1986 Medicare budget proposals. Of specific concern to teaching hospitals and physicians were proposals to: reduce payments in direct medical education; reduce to 5.79 percent the indirect medical

education adjustment in spite of an extensive CBO analysis supporting a reduction to only 8.7 percent; implement DRG payments at 100 percent national rates effective October 1, 1987; increase DRG prices by two percent, essentially a freeze at 1985 payment levels if Gramm-Rudman-Hollings reductions go into effect; implement a restrictive capital payment policy; and retroactively recalculate the Medicare economic index to reduce fee payments for physicians.

The AAMC made a number of specific recommendations in its testimony. First, the Association supported retaining explicit Medicare funding of graduate medical education for at least the number of years required to attain board eligibility in various specialties (to a maximum of five years) plus one additional clinical year where hospitals had supported the position in FY84-85. Other AAMC recommended changes in training support were congruent with positions taken by the Executive Council. The testimony also recommended that Congress amend the prospective payment system so that payments are based on a DRG-specific, blended rate of hospital-specific and federal component prices, that the current pause in the phase-in of national prices be continued throughout 1986, and that the FY1987 price be based on a hospital-specific component of at least 25 percent. The AAMC further supported increasing DRG prices for 1987 by the market basket plus 0.25 percent, and establishing an adjustment in prospective payments to recognize the generally higher costs incurred by hospitals serving a disproportionate number of indigent patients. The AAMC opposed any extension of the Medicare freeze on payments to physicians for professional medical services, and urged Congress to mandate retaining the present methodology for calculating the medical economic index.

In March 1986 the AAMC testified before the Subcommittee on Health of the Senate Finance Committee on Medicare payments for hospital capital. The administration's proposed budget for FY1987 advocated implementing a new policy for Medicare capital payments by regulation. The AAMC strongly

opposed changing Medicare capital payments by regulation, preferring the legislative process because it is more open and public. To ensure that the legislative process has an opportunity to consider a new capital payment policy, the AAMC recommended that the Health Subcommittee adopt legislation prohibiting HHS from making changes in the capital passthrough until Congress enacts legislation with a specific capital payment methodology. The Association further recommended that the federal component for computing capital payments for a phase-in be based on actual 1986 Medicare capital payments updated annually for increased construction and borrowing costs, and that the hospital-specific component for computing capital for a phase-in transition be based on each hospital's actual capital costs for that current year. With regard to the capital proposal made by Senators Durenberger and Ouavle, the AAMC recommended consideration of a hospital-specific transition approach which varies the transition period with either the percentage of a hospital's fixed assets which are debt financed or the percentage of fixed assets presently depreciated. The Association recommended specifying the base year and the specific update factors in the legislation, recommended that any offset of interest earned be limited to interest earned on funded depreciation, and that any effective date for a new capital policy be based on individual hospital fiscal years.

The AAMC joined 29 other organizations representing nonprofit health care and higher education institutions in opposing House Ways and Means Committee action to restrict tax-exempt financing for 501(c) (3) organizations. The committee placed section 501(c) (3) bonds under a state volume cap and protected only about one-half of their 1984 volume with a \$25 per capita set-aside. This set-aside would inevitably become a "ceiling" rather than a "floor" because the demand for other types of bonds far exceeds the amount which could be issued under the remainder of the volume cap. The AAMC and other organizations opposed the committee's position because it did not recognize that private nonprofit health care and higher education institutions serve public

purposes which the government would otherwise have to provide. It would treat private nonprofit institutions differently from public institutions performing the same functions. The committee's position would arbitrarily allocate capital for nonprofit hospitals and universities according only to state population, despite these institutions' characteristics as national resources.

The committee bill also denied advance refunding authority to section 501(c) (3) organizations, which is used to reduce debt service. The committee also proposed a limit on the amount of outstanding bonds of institutions other than hospitals, eliminated the use of arbitrage, and placed numerous restrictions on bond issuance for section 501(c) (3) organizations. The AAMC emphasized that it is essential that they not be subject to any volume restrictions, and that such organizations have the same limited advance refunding authority that the bill provides for governmental bonds.

Another issue of concern to the AAMC in the past year has been Medicare payment for physician services. The AAMC recognizes the present dissatisfaction and unrest with Medicare's usual, customary and prevailing system for determining payments for physician services, but stresses that the form and content of any revised payment system for professional services will provide economic incentives that influence the attractiveness of the various specialties and subspecialties. Therefore, change in the payment system must be approached carefully and with demonstration projects so that intended benefits and unintended consequences are understood. At the same time, the AAMC believes that Congress should not extend the physician fee freeze. Currently, fees for physician services are based on information submitted in 1982 with no adjustment provided for increasing practice costs such as the rapid rise in malpractice premiums. The AAMC strongly recommends halting the fee freeze on physician services.

As new approaches to physician payment are considered, the AAMC urges careful attention to the application of the approach in teaching settings. The revised payment system should incorporate several principles for the equitable application of payments in teaching settings. If the level of professional medical services provided is equivalent to the level of services furnished a patient in a non-teaching setting, payment should be made on the same basis. Payments should be determined in the same manner regardless of setting. The determination of the level of payments for professional services should not be influenced by the extent to which physicians provide services to non-paying or Medicaid patients. Payments for physicians in teaching settings should not impose requirements which result in artificial or atypical relationships on the provider organization and its medical staff. The AAMC further believes that any revised payment system does not preclude or discourage resident training in the full spectrum of long-term care and ambulatory care settings.

The Association expressed its views on the proposed regulation to augment the procedures for establishing reasonable charge limits for Part B of Medicare in a letter to the Health Care Financing Administration. The proposed regulation sought to establish a mechanism by which the usual method of establishing a "reasonable charge" for a service can be abridged when it will result in an unreasonably high charge. The AAMC expressed its understanding that there may be instances in which HCFA's formula for determining charges may result in inappropriate levels of payment; e.g., new medical technologies and techniques can dramatically affect the time and effort involved in providing services to patients. However, the Association opposed the method suggested in the proposed regulation, in which HCFA would identify areas in which it suspects that Part B compensation is excessive, would calculate new payment amounts for these services, and would publish proposed regulations to establish those amounts. After eliciting comments from the public, HCFA would then publish the final regulation, which may contain changes from the proposed rule. As the agency responsible for Medicare outlays, HCFA is not an objective independent party able to determine what constitutes a "reasonable" outlay for a partic-

ular service. Under this regulation, HCFA would act as both the unilateral determiner of the rules for "reasonable payment" under Part B and as the payer. The interests of the government, patients, and providers would be best served if proposed changes from the current accepted method of fee determination were discussed publicly, and enacted only on advice and consent of a knowledgeable, independent advisory body established to look at such payment issues. The Physician Payment Review Commission (PhysPRC) or a similar body would be an appropriate adviser for these payment changes. The Association proposed an alternative process in which HCFA publishes instances which it believes warrants deviation from the normal methodology for calculating payments. That publication is followed by a hearing before an independent body which reviews HCFA's rationale and which advises HCFA on whether to proceed with regulations.

In March 1986 concern about health budget cuts prompted the AAMC to join with over 100 health-related organizations in writing to Senator Pete V. Domenici, chairman of the Senate Budget Committee. The letter stated that despite concerns about budget deficits, a balanced solution is needed. The organizations were deeply disturbed by continued efforts to cut public health programs, including health research and education, in a disproportionate manner. The letter pointed out that during the past five years, Medicare had been cut by nearly \$40 billion. This constituted 12 percent of total budget cuts, even though Medicare represented only 7 percent of federal outlays. An additional \$55 billion in cuts over the next five years were proposed along with cuts of \$1.3 billion from Medicaid in 1987, although that program is already unable to protect millions of indigent patients due to inadequate funding. These proposals would adversely impact the quality of services and access to needed health care by elderly and poor patients. The AAMC urged Congress to adopt a budget resolution which rejected such arbitrary and unfair cuts and established reasonable targets for health programs in the FY1987 budget resolution.

In June 1986 the Association wrote all members of Congress opposing the tax bill amendment being offered by Senator Gordon J. Humphrey. Senator Humphrey wished to amend the tax reform bill by denying taxexempt status and tax deductibility to any organization that "directly or indirectly performs, finances, or provides facilities for any abortion" except when required to save the life of the mother. This amendment would jeopardize the tax-exempt status and charitable contributions for most of this nation's major teaching hospitals and for several major private universities which own a teaching hospital. It is inappropriate to deny tax-exempt status to these multi-function, public purpose organizations simply because they offer a medical service that is legal and desired by their patients. Although this amendment was subsequently removed from the tax reform measure, its supporters plan to introduce it as an amendment to another important piece of legislation.

The AAMC has submitted written comments to the Health Care Financing Administration regarding the proposed rule for the fourth year of the Medicare prospective payment system. The Association is especially interested in the proposed rules because its teaching hospital members provide approximately 20 percent of Medicare inpatient days. The Association's comments focused on the increase in DRG prices, payment for capital costs, market basket recalculation, restandardization of prices, classification of burn patients, and periodic interim payments. In the proposed rule, HCFA argued that an appropriate price increase for FY1986 DRG prices is a 0.9 percent decrease, but recommended a 0.5 percent increase in DRG prices. The AAMC is concerned with the inadequate justification HCFA offers for both the increase and the decrease. Given HCFA's apparent unwillingness to develop an adequate, politically independent estimate for DRG prices, the AAMC recommends using the price increase of 2.2 percent developed by the Prospective Payment Assessment Commission (ProPAC).

The proposed regulation also recommended including capital payments in DRG prices by

regulation, and the AAMC reiterated its support for House and Senate efforts to preclude a regulatory change in capital. The AAMC strongly recommends that HCFA continue to pay capital costs using the current cost reimbursement methods until Congress provides an alternative capital methodology.

The AAMC opposes five major elements of HCFA's capital proposal. First, the capital cost data from 1983 substantially understate current capital costs. HCFA's efforts to update 1983 data are inadequate because the HCFA adjustment is based primarily on interest rate changes and ignores the increase in capital spending since 1983. Second, the AAMC opposes using a four-year transition to national rates as too short to allow hospitals with major modernization or replacement projects to adjust their capital costs to an average national rate. A 10-year transition is more appropriate. Third, the AAMC opposes limiting the hospital-specific payment during the transition to 1986 allowable costs. During each year of the transition, hospitals should be allowed to use actual allowable costs. Fourth, the AAMC opposes offsetting interest received on funded depreciation against interest paid on capital costs. For 20 years, allowable capital costs have not included the offset, and debt instruments currently in force often require segregating both depreciation and interest earned on funded depreciation. Thus, interest earned on funded depreciation is often not legally available for capital payments. Fifth, the AAMC opposes a capital exceptions policy that requires hospitals to approach insolvency before qualifying for more individualized capital payments. In good faith, communities and hospitals have sought to maintain technically upto-date facilities and equipment. Requiring these hospitals to substantially weaken their financial position in order to have atypical costs recognized is an inappropriate public policy which threatens hospital viability and beneficiary access. Each of these five elements of the capital proposal is a major short-coming; together they constitute an unacceptable proposal.

In developing a capital payment policy, the AAMC does not recommend using a separate

component after the transition period. To accomplish this objective, it is important to adjust all payments by the case mix index, the indirect medical education adjustment, and the disproportionate share adjustment. To help ensure equity across hospitals, it is necessary to standardize any capital component by each of these payment variables.

The AAMC supports the regular revisions in the market basket to estimate price increases in the goods and services purchased by hospitals. The AAMC is disappointed, however, that HCFA, in proposing a new wage index, has not conducted a retrospective impact analysis using data from 1982–1984. The AAMC believes that in proposing a new market basket, HCFA should demonstrate the redistributional impact of using the new approach. Until such an analysis is conducted and published, the AAMC is unable to evaluate the market basket weights and proxies of the HCFA proposal.

COBRA made significant changes in area wage indices, the indirect medical education adjustment and the disproportionate share adjustment. As a result, the law required HCFA to restandardize regional and national prices. The AAMC believes these adjustments have been proper.

The AAMC is pleased that HCFA is using its discretionary authority to categorize and weight tertiary care services. While HCFA has not released the data necessary to evaluate the change in DRGs relating to burn patients, the Association believes this is an appropriate step and recommends that HCFA continue to develop additional diagnosis-related groups for patients requiring substantially different hospital resources.

The AAMC opposes HCFA's proposal simply to eliminate the periodic interim payments until detailed specifications for intermediary performance are in place and enforceable. Rather than abandoning PIP in a blanket manner, HCFA should initially establish intermediary standards for paying provider claims. Only when a provider demonstrates a sustained ability to meet the performance standard should HCFA consider eliminating PIP for that intermediary. If an intermediary

is allowed to discontinue PIP, HCFA should publish semiannual data on intermediary payment performance. If an intermediary fails to meet the performance criteria, HCFA should immediately reinstate PIP until the performance standard can be met.

The AAMC believes that the proposed regulation for the fourth year of prospective payment demonstrates HCFA's continued emphasis on limiting program expenditures and its unwillingness to provide adequate public statistical information on the impacts of its proposals.

Another area of concern to the AAMC in recent months has been that developing state and national policies on health care delivery and payments usually assume that teaching hospitals are relatively homogeneous. A number of pilot studies conducted by the Task Force on Academic Medical Centers of the Commonwealth Fund clearly indicated that this simplifying assumption is incorrect. In an effort to replace the assumption of homogeneity with clear analytical information on the differing characteristics of subgroups of teaching hospitals, the AAMC has received funding from the Commonwealth Fund for a threeyear effort to establish a coordinated data base on teaching hospitals. Data will be developed at the individual hospital level so that the impacts of a particular policy can be assessed on different types of teaching hospitals. To the degree that it is possible, the data base will be assembled using existing data currently collected by the American Hospital Association, the Health Care Financing Administration, the National Institutes of Health, the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education, and the Social Security Administration. For COTH hospitals, the general data will be supplemented by both existing annual surveys on resident stipends and funding sources for graduate medical education and by special purpose surveys developed to collect information on issues such as hospital debt structure and payment requirements.

Three types of project reports will be prepared. The first set will develop alternative typologies of teaching hospitals based on their organizational, patient service, educational, research, and financial characteristics. The next reports will use the developed typologies to assess the comparative impacts of existing policies/developments on subgroups of teaching hospitals. For example, changes in the number of admissions can be compared across hospital subgroups to identify relationships between hospital characteristics and operational experience. The third set of reports will use the alternative typologies and the assessments of present policies to model the impact of proposed policies. Advising the AAMC on the project will be a committee comprised of individuals knowledgeable about teaching hospitals and policy analysis.

Communications

The Association continues to wage an aggressive public relations program by encouraging national and regional news media representatives to view the AAMC as a major source of information on medical education, biomedical research and patient care policy and funding issues. More than 25 reporters contact the Association each week to seek interviews and data as they develop their reports for radio, television, newspapers and magazines. The AAMC also generates stories by issuing news releases and conducting news conferences on timely subjects.

The Association's flagship publication is the *President's Weekly Activities Report*. This publication, now in its 16th year, circulates to more than 6,000 individuals 43 times a year. It reports on AAMC activities and federal actions having a direct affect on medical education, biomedical research and patient care.

The Journal of Medical Education published 75 regular articles, 59 communications, and 7 briefs, as well as editorials, datagrams, book reviews, letters to the editor, and bibliographies provided by the National Library of Medicine.

Supplements were published on the 1985 AAMC Annual Meeting and Annual Report, commentary on the GPEP report, and the evaluation of medical information science in medical education.

Manuscripts submitted to the *Journal* in 1985-86 totaled 425, compared with 403 the previous year. Of these 425 articles, 136 were accepted for publication, 238 were rejected, 15 were withdrawn and 36 were pending as the year ended. The *Journal's* monthly circulation continued to average about 6,100.

About 20,000 copies of the annual Medical School Admission Requirements, 5,000 copies of the AAMC Directory of American Medical Education, and 5,000 copies of the AAMC Curriculum Directory were published. Numerous other publications, such as directories, reports, papers, studies and proceedings, were produced by the AAMC. Newsletters include the COTH Report, which has a monthly circulation of about 2,600; the OSR Report, which is circulated twice a year to medical students and deans, and STAR (Student Affairs Reporter), which is printed four times a year and has a circulation of 1,100.

Information Systems

The Association's computer system consists of a Hewlett-Packard 3000, Series 68 and a Hewlett-Packard 3000, Series 48, each with a high speed laser printer. The Association meets the needs of its membership and staff through the use of over 100 terminals and enhanced data communication technology. Data base development continues as a top priority to minimize data redundacy and to provide responsive on-line information retrieval. More sophisticated computer-generated graphic art now permits the creation of 35 mm slides and the preparation of other camera art.

The American Medical College Application Service system provides the core of the information on medical students by collecting biographic and academic data, and linking these data to MCAT scores. A sophisticated software system provides participating medical schools with timely and reliable data to support the admissions process and statistics describing their own and the nation's applicant pool.

AMCAS is supplemented by the Medical College Admission Test reference system of score information, a college information system on U.S. and Canadian schools, and the Medical Science Knowledge Profile system on individuals taking the MSKP examination for advanced standing admission to U.S. medical schools.

A student record system, maintained in cooperation with the medical schools, traces the progress of individual students from matriculation through graduation. Supplemental surveys such as the graduation questionnaire and the financial aid survey augment the student record system.

After each residency match carried out by the National Resident Matching Program (NRMP), the AAMC and the NRMP receive information on unmatched participants and eligible students who did not enroll. Using this information and the match results, the Association produces lists of graduates with residency choices for each school and for the Liaison Committee on Medical Education. In a continuation of the tracking studies initiated by NRMP, AAMC and NRMP collect data from hospitals and training programs each year, providing data for longitudinal studies extending through residency.

The Student and Applicant Information Management System (SAIMS) consolidates into one comprehensive data base more than a decade's information on applicants, medical students, and residents. This is the Association's largest data base, containing information on more than 500,000 individuals. SAIMS provides data for a wide variety of reports, including cross-sectional and longitudinal studies performed by Association staff for researchers at member institutions.

Through a cooperative network at each medical school, the Association updates the Faculty Roster System's information on fultime faculty and periodically provides schools with an organized, systematic profile of their faculty. A survey of medical school faculty salaries is published annually, and the data can be used on a confidential, aggregated basis for special studies requested by member institutions.

The Association maintains an on-line repository of information on medical schools, of which the Institutional Profile System is the major component. IPS contains over 30,000 data items describing medical schools from the 1960s to the present. It is constructed both from survey results sent directly from the medical schools and from other AAMC information systems. The information reported on Part I of the Liaison Committee on Medical Education annual questionnaire is used with the Institutional Profile System to produce the

report of medical school finances published annually in the *Journal of the American Med*ical Association.

The Association also collects and maintains information on teaching hospitals. The comprehensive *Directory of Educational Programs and Services* and surveys on executive salaries, house staff stipends and benefits, and aca-

demic medical center financing are published annually.

The rapid assimilation of data into useful information coupled with its timely distribution to its membership to allow informed decision-making continues to be the Association's goal.

AAMC Membership

	1984-85	1985-86
Institutional	127	128
Provisional Institutional	1	0
Affiliate	16	16
Graduate Affiliate	1	1
Subscriber	13	13
Academic Societies	79	82
Teaching Hospitals	435	436
Corresponding	35	30
Individual	1,074	1,005
Distinguished Service	68	68
Emeritus	60	53
Contributing	5	5
Sustaining	10	9

Treasurer's Report

The Association's Audit Committee met on September 3, 1986, and reviewed in detail the audited statements and the audit report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1986. Meeting with the committee were representatives of Ernst & Whinney, the Association's auditors, and Association staff. On September 11, the Executive Council reviewed and accepted the final unqualified audit report.

Income for the year totaled \$13,068,967. Of that amount, \$12,407,342 (94.9%) originated from general fund sources, \$159,032 (1.2%) from foundation grants, and \$502,593 (3.9%) from federal government grants and contracts.

Expenses for the year totaled \$11,891,798 of which \$11,226,119 (94.4%) was chargeable to the continuing activities of the Association, \$163,086 (1.4%) to foundation grants, and \$502,593 (4.2%) to federal government grants

and contracts. Balances in funds restricted by grantors increased \$45,133 to \$383,319. After making provisions for Executive Council designated reserves for special programs in the amount of \$223,834, unrestricted funds available for general purposes increased \$506,725 to \$11,488,124, an amount equal to 96% of the expense recorded for the year. This reserve accumulation is within the directive of the Executive Council that the Association maintain as a goal an unrestricted reserve of 100% of the Association's total annual budget. It is of continuing importance that an adequate reserve be maintained.

The Association's financial position is strong, but with the multitude of complex issues facing medical education, it is apparent that the demands on the Association's resources will continue.

Association of American Medical Colleges Balance Sheet

June 30, 1986		
ASSETS		
Cash		\$ 68,206
Investments		19,289,247
Accounts Receivable		535,394
Deposits and Prepaid Items		94,348
Equipment (Net of Depreciation)		935,472
Land and Building (Net of Depreciation)		814,405
TOTAL ASSETS		\$21,737,072
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES		
Liabilities		
Accounts Payable		\$ 1,572,789
Deferred Income		2,040,414
Fund Balances		202 210
Funds Restricted by Grantor for Special Purposes		383,319
General Funds	¢ 406.056	
Funds Restricted for Plant Investment	\$ 496,856 4,005,693	
Funds Restricted by Executive Council for Special Purposes	1,749,877	
Investment in Property and Equipment General Purposes Fund	11,488,124	17,740,550
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES	11,400,124	\$21,737,072
		421, 737,072
Association of American Medical Colleges		
Operating Statement		
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1986		
SOURCE OF FUNDS		
Income		
Dues and Service Fees from Members		\$ 3,428,920
Private Grants		159,032
Cost Reimbursement Contracts		502,593
Special Services		5,508,615 90,105
Journal of Medical Education		382,871
Other Publications Sundry (Interest \$1,873,349)		2,996,831
TOTAL SOURCE OF FUNDS		\$13,068,967
		\$13,000,707
USE OF FUNDS		
Operating Expenses		\$ 5,228,205
Salaries and Wages		972,501
Staff Benefits Supplies and Services		3,556,501
Provisions for Depreciation		351,401
		1.203.911
Travel and Meetings		1,203,911 578,194
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services		578,194
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets		
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets TOTAL EXPENSES		578,194 1,085
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets TOTAL EXPENSES Increase in Investment in Property and Equipment (Net of Depreciation)		578,194 1,085 \$11,891,798
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets TOTAL EXPENSES Increase in Investment in Property and Equipment		578,194 1,085 \$11,891,798
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets TOTAL EXPENSES Increase in Investment in Property and Equipment (Net of Depreciation) Transfer to Executive Council Reserved Funds for Special Programs (Decrease)		578,194 1,085 \$11,891,798 551,236 (206,688)
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets TOTAL EXPENSES Increase in Investment in Property and Equipment (Net of Depreciation) Transfer to Executive Council Reserved Funds for Special Programs (Decrease) Reserve for Replacement of Equipment		578,194 1,085 \$11,891,798 551,236 (206,688) 280,763
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets TOTAL EXPENSES Increase in Investment in Property and Equipment (Net of Depreciation) Transfer to Executive Council Reserved Funds for Special Programs (Decrease) Reserve for Replacement of Equipment Increase in Restricted Fund Balances		578,194 1,085 \$11,891,798 551,236 (206,688) 280,763 45,133
Travel and Meetings Contracted Services Net Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets TOTAL EXPENSES Increase in Investment in Property and Equipment (Net of Depreciation) Transfer to Executive Council Reserved Funds for Special Programs (Decrease) Reserve for Replacement of Equipment		578,194 1,085 \$11,891,798 551,236 (206,688) 280,763

AAMC Committees

Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education

AAMC MEMBERS

Thomas Meyer Henry P. Russe Patrick B. Storey

Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education

AAMC MEMBERS

D. Kay Clawson Spencer Foreman Haynes Rice David Sabiston, Jr.

Audit

C. Thomas Smith, Chairman Milton Corn Douglas R. Knab

CAS Nominating

Frank G. Moody, Chairman Jo Anne Brasel David H. Cohen Rolla B. Hill Mary Lou Pardue Jerry Wiener

COD Nominating

Nicholas Zervas

George T. Bryan, Chairman Henry H. Banks Robert L. Friedlander Tom M. Johnson Joseph W. St. Geme

COD Spring Meeting Planning

D. Kay Clawson, Chairman Bernard J. Fogel Louis J. Kettel Walter F. Leavell Leon E. Rosenberg Cecil O. Samuelson William D. Sawyer

COTH Nominating

Sheldon King, Chairman David Reed C. Thomas Smith

COTH Spring Meeting Planning

James Morgan, Chairman Paul Griner David Hitt Delanson Hopkins Barbara Small Michael Stringer

Council for Medical Affairs

AAMC MEMBERS

Robert G. Petersdorf Edward J. Stemmler Virginia V. Weldon

Evaluation of Medical Information Science in Medical Education

STEERING

Jack D. Myers, Chairman G. Octo Barnett Harry N. Beaty Don E. Detmer Ernst Knobil Charles E. Molnar Stephen G. Pauker Edward H. Shortliffe Edward J. Stemmler

Faculty Practice

Edward J. Stemmler, Chairman Arnold L. Brown Wilton Bunch Saul J. Farber Robert M. Heyssel John E. Ives Ernst Knobil Richard G. Lester Charles A. McCallum David R. Perry Alan K. Pierce Charles Putman Raymond G. Schultze Donald Tower

Finance

Mitchell Rabkin, Chairman William Deal Robert M. Heyssel Robert L. Hill Richard Janeway Edward J. Stemmler Virginia V. Weldon Frank C. Wilson, Jr.

Financing Graduate Medical Education

J. Robert Buchanan, Chairman

Richard Berman
David Gitch
Louis Kettel
Frank Moody
Gerald Perkoff
Robert Petersdorf
Louis Sherwood
Charles Sprague
William Stoneman, III

Richard Vance
W. Donald Weston
Frank Wilson, Jr.

Flexner Award Selection

Stuart Bondurant, Chairman Harry N. Beaty Paul F. Griner Kent Wellish Kern Wildenthal

Governance and Structure

Frank C. Wilson, Jr.

Sherman M. Mellinkoff, Chairman John W. Colloton William Deal Joseph E. Johnson, III Frank C. Wilson, Jr.

Group on Business Affairs

STEERING

Lester C. Wilterdink, Chairman
John H. Deufel, Executive Secretary
Stephen M. Cohen
John Deeley
James Hackett
Bernard McGinty
David Mendelow
Roger D. Meyer
Edward K. Parker
Lauren Pike
Robert B. Price

Group on Institutional Planning

Kathleen M. Sheehan

STEERING

Amber B. Jones, Chairman
John H. Deufel, Executive Secretary
J. Peter Bentley
Victor Crown
Donald Fenna
David R. Perry
James F. Pfister
Charles W. Tandy
Susan Vogt

Group on Medical Education

STEERING

S. Scott Obenshain, Chairman
James B. Erdmann, Executive Secretary
Gerald Escovitz
Lawrence Fisher
Charles Friedman
Myra Ramos
Paula Stillman
Howard Stone

Group on Public Affairs

STEERING

Robert Fenley, Chairman Charles B. Fentress, Jr., Executive Secretary Eldean Borg Arthur Brink, Jr. John Deats Anne Doll
D. Gayle McNutt
John Milkereit
Carolyn Tinker
Clyde Watkins
Nancy Severa Zimmers

Group on Student Affairs

STEERING

Ture W. Schoultz, Chairman
Robert L. Beran, Executive Secretary
Ruth Beer Bletzinger
Carolyn M. Carter
Jack C. Gardner
Robert I. Keimowitz
Roy Maffly
John B. Molidor
Richard M. Peters
Billy B. Rankin
Anthony P. Smulders

MINORITY AFFAIRS SECTION

Ethel Weinberg

Maggie S. Wright

Cheryl Wilkes

Carolyn M. Carter, Chairman
Stephen N. Keith, Vice Chairman
Margie Beltran
Margaret Haynes
Carrie B. Jackson
Vietta L. Johnson
Scharron A. Laisure
Leonard E. Lawrence
Fernando Mendoza
Velma G. Watts
Rudolph Williams

Graduate Medical Education and the Transition from Medical School to Residency

Spencer Foreman, Chairman
Arnold L. Brown
D. Kay Clawson
Robert Dickler
Mark L. Dyken
Gerald H. Escovitz
J. Roland Folse
Joseph S. Gonnella
James J. Leonard
Carol M. Mangione

Thomas K. Oliver, Jr. Vivian W. Pinn Bernice Sigman Morton E. Smith

Guidelines for Management of Animal Resources

William H. Danforth, Co-Chairman Henry L. Nadler, Co-Chairman Albert A. Barber Thomas B. Clarkson, Jr. D. Kay Clawson Joe D. Coulter Franklyn G. Knox D. Gayle McNutt

Journal of Medical Education

Joseph S. Gonnella, Chairman

EDITORIAL BOARD

Philip C. Anderson L. Thompson Bowles Pamelyn Close Preston V. Dilts, Jr. Charles W. Dohner Nancy E. Gary David S. Greer Paul F. Griner John E. Ives Donald G. Kassebaum Fernando S. Mendoza Emily Mumford Gordon Page Lois A. Pounds Hugh M. Scott Manuel Tzagournis J. H. Wallace Jesse G. Wardlow Kern Wildenthal

Liaison Committee on Medical Education

AAMC MEMBERS

Carol Aschenbrener
J. Robert Buchanan
Carmine D. Clemente
William B. Deal
William H. Luginbuhl
Richard C. Reynolds

AAMC Student Participant

Ian Cook

Management Education Programs

William H. Luginbuhl, Chairman

William T. Butler D. Kay Clawson Robert L. Friedlander Jerome Grossman

William B. Kerr Hiram C. Polk, Jr.

MCAT Essay Pilot Project

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Daniel J. Bean Zenaido Camacho Shirley Nickols Fahev Robert I. Keimowitz Scharron A. Laisure Terrence M. Leigh John B. Molidor

Marliss Strange

MCAT Review

Sherman M. Mellinkoff, Chairman

Fredric D. Burg John DeJong

Daniel D. Federman

Nathan Kase

Douglas E. Kelly

Walter F. Leavell

William Luginbuhl

Billy B. Rankin Richard S. Ross

Andrew G. Wallace

Nominating

John E. Chapman, Chairman

George T. Bryan Sheldon S. King Frank G. Moody Frank M. Yatsu

Research Award Selection

Rudi Schmid, Chairman Michael S. Brown Joseph E. Johnson III David M. Kipnis Edwin G. Krebs Philip Leder

Research Policy

Edward N. Brandt, Jr., Chairman

Stuart Bondurant David H. Cohen

Robert E. Fellows

Thomas W. Morris

John T. Potts, Jr.

Leon E. Rosenberg

Benjamin D. Schwartz

David B. Skinner

Edward J. Stemmler

Virginia V. Weldon

Peter C. Whybrow

Resolutions

Harry S. Jonas, Chairman

Vicki Darrow

Earl Frederick

A. Everette James, Jr.

RIME Program Planning

Arthur Rothman, Chairman

James B. Erdmann, Executive Secretary

David S. Gullion

David Irby

Murray M. Kappelman

William D. Mattern

Christine McGuire

Strategies for Promoting Academic **Medical Centers**

D. Gayle McNutt, Chairman

Roger J. Bulger

James Christensen

Milton Corn

J. Roland Folse

James C. Hunt

John E. Ives

J. Antony Lloyd

Gary A. Mecklenburg

Robert H. Waldman

Women in Medicine

Joan Altekruse

Betsv Bennett

Joanna Fruth

Dona Harris

Margaret Hines

Bernice Sigman

AAMC Staff

Office of the President President

President

Robert G. Petersdorf, M.D.

Vice President

John E. Sherman, Ph.D.

Special Assistant to the President

Kathleen S. Turner

Staff Counsel

Joseph A. Keyes, J.D.

Archivist

Mary H. Littlemeyer

Executive Secretary

Norma Nichols

Rose Napper

Administrative Secretary

Rosemary Choate

President Emeritus

John A. D. Cooper, M.D., Ph.D.

Division of Business Affairs

Director and Assistant Secretary-Treasurer

John H. Deufel

Associate Director

Jeanne Newman

Business Manager

Samuel Morey

Personnel Manager

Carolyn Curcio

Supervisor, Membership and Publication

Orders

Madelyn Roche

Administrative Secretary

Carolyn Demorest

Personnel Assistant

Donna Adams

Accounts Payable/Purchasing Assistant

Farisse Moore

Accounting Assistant

Cathy Brooks

Accounts Payable Assistant

Anna Thomas

Accounts Receivable Clerk

Rick Helmer

Annual Meeting Registrar

Rosalie Viscomi

Membership Clerk

Ida Gaskins

Book Order Clerk

Diann Pender

Senior Mail Room Clerk

Michael George

Mail Room Clerk

John Blount

Director, Computer Services

Brendan J. Cassidy

Associate Director

Sandra K. Lehman

Manager of Development

Maryn Goodson

Systems Manager

Robert Yearwood

Systems Analyst

David Burhop

Steve Hammond

Penny Rife

Peggy Yacovone

Programmer/Analyst

John Chesley, III

Operations Supervisor

Jackie Humphries

Administrative Secretary

Cynthia K. Woodard

Secretary/Word Processing Specialist

Mary Ellen Jones

Data Control and Graphics Specialist

Renate Coffin

Senior Computer Operator

William Porter

Operator/Data Communications Specialist

Basil Pegus

Computer Operator

Haywood Marshall

Gary Thomas

Division of Public Relations

Director

Charles Fentress

Division of Publications

Director

Merrill T. McCord

Associate Editor

James R. Ingram

Staff Editor

Vickie Wilson Ahari

Assistant Editor

Addeane Caelleigh

Administrative Secretary

Anne Mattheisen

Department of Academic Affairs

Director

August G. Swanson, M.D.

Deputy Director

Elizabeth M. Short, M.D.

Senior Staff Associate

Mary H. Littlemeyer

Administrative Secretary

Amy Eldridge

Secretary

Brenda George

Division of Biomedical Research and Faculty Development

Director

Elizabeth M. Short, M.D.

Staff Associate

Christine Burris

David Moore

Division of Educational Measurement and Research

Director

James B. Erdmann, Ph.D.

Project Director

Karen Mitchell, Ph.D.

Staff Associate

M. Brownell Anderson

Manager, MCAT Operations

Gretchen Chumley

Research Assistant

Judith Anderson

Pamela Brown

Administrative Secretary

Stephanie Kerby

Secretary

Pat Cooleen

Division of Student Services

Director

Richard R. Randlett

Associate Director

Robert Colonna

Manager

Linda Carter

Alice Cherian

Edward Gross

Mark Wood

Supervisor

Hugh Goodman

Enrique Martinez-Vidal

Lillian McRae

Dennis Renner

Walter Wentz

John Woods

Senior Assistant

C. Sharon Booker

Keiko Doram

Warren Lewis

Helen Thurston

Edith Young

Administrative Secretary

Mary Reed

Secretary

Denise Howard

Typist/Receptionist

Sandra Smalls

Assistant

Wanda Bradley

Marvin Brimage

James Cobb

Wayne Corley

Kathryn Creighton

Michelle Davis

Carol Easley

Carl Gilbert

Gwendolyn Hancock

Bettie Ann Jones

Patricia Jones

Shelia Jones Letitia Lee Yvonne Lewis Mary Molyneaux Beverly Ruffin Albert Salas Christina Searcy Tamara Wallace Gail Watson Pamela Watson Oscar Wells

Yvette White

Division of Student Programs

Director Robert L. Beran, Ph.D. Director, Minority Affairs Dario O. Prieto Staff Associate Janet Bickel

Research Associate

Mary Cureton

Cynthia Tudor Staff Assistant

> Elsie Quinones Sharon Taylor

Research Assistant

Wendy Luke

Administrative Secretary

Mary Salemme

Secretary

Debra Dabney Lily May Johnson

Department of Institutional Development

Director Joseph A. Keyes, J.D. Director, Institutional Studies Robert Jones, Ph.D. Staff Associate Marcie F. Mirsky

Administrative Secretary Debra Day

Secretary

Linda Butler Dorothy Mallorey

Division of Accreditation

Director James R. Schofield, M.D. Staff Assistant Robert Van Dyke Administrative Secretary Linda Flack

Department of Teaching Hospitals

Director Richard M. Knapp, Ph.D. Associate Director James D. Bentley, Ph.D.

Staff Associate
Nancy Seline
Judith Teich
Administrative Fellow

Sonia Kohan

Administrative Secretary Melissa Wubbold

Secretary
Janie Bigelow
Marjorie Lawal
Cassandra Veney

Department of Planning and Policy Development

Director

Thomas J. Kennedy, Jr., M.D.

Deputy Director Paul Jolly, Ph.D. Legislative Analyst

Legislative Analysi
David Baime
Melissa Brown

James Terwilliger

Administrative Secretary Cynthia Withers

Secretary

Tonya Borges Sandra Taylor

Division of Operational Studies

Director Paul Jolly, Ph.D. Staff Associate Thomas Dial

Aarolyn Galbraith

William Smith

Research Associate
Judith Frost

Nancy Gentile

Charles Killian
Leon Taksel
Stephen Toy
Donna Williams
Research Assistant
Gail Ahluwalia
Diane Lindley
Elizabeth Sherman

Byron Welch
Administrative Secretary
Dorothea Hudley
Survey/Editorial Assistant
Sandra Garbrecht
Secretary
Dawn Walley

JOURNAL OF Medical Education

Editorial Board

L. Thompson Bowles, M.D., Ph.D. (Chairman) Dean for Academic Affairs George Washington University School of Medicine and Health Sciences Washington, D.C.

Philip C. Anderson, M.D. Chairman Department of Dermatology University of Missouri, Columbia School of Medicine Columbia, Missouri

G. William Bates, M.D. Dean College of Medicine Medical University of South Carolina Charleston, South Carolina

Pamelyn Close, M.D. Pediatrics Resident Harbor-UCLA Medical Center Torrance, California

Preston V. Dilts, Jr., M.D. Chairman Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology University of Michigan Medical School Ann Arbor, Michigan

Nancy E. Gary, M.D. Associate Dean for Educational Affairs University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey Robert Wood Johnson Medical School Piscataway, New Jersey

David S. Greer, M.D. Dean of Medicine Brown University Program in Medicine Providence, Rhode Island

Paul F. Griner, M.D. General Director Strong Memorial Hospital Rochester, New York

Kaaren I. Hoffman, Ph.D. Associate Professor Department of Medical Education University of Southern California School of Medicine Los Angeles, California

John E. Ives **Executive Vice President** Shands Hospital University of Florida Gainesville, Florida

Donald G. Kassebaum, M.D. **Executive Dean** University of Oklahoma College of Medicine Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

Fernando S. Mendoza, M.D. Assistant Dean of Student Affairs Stanford University School of Medicine Stanford, California

Emily Mumford, Ph.D. Professor of Clinical Social Science Columbia University Chief Division of Health Services and Policy Research New York State Psychiatric Institute New York City, New York

Gordon Page, Ed.D. Director Division of Educational Support and Development University of British Columbia Faculty of Medicine Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

Lois A. Pounds, M.D. Associate Dean for Students University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Hugh M. Scott, M.D. Principal Bishop's University Lennoxville, Quebec, Canada

Charles E. Spooner, Ph.D. Associate Dean for Admissions University of California, San Diego School of Medicine La Jolla, California

Manuel Tzagournis, M.D. Vice President for Health Services and Dean Ohio State University College of Medicine Columbus, Ohio

Jesse G. Wardlow Student Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, Connecticut